




The Financial Services Ombudsman can investigate, in an impartial and
independent manner, complaints from individual customers and small
businesses who have unresolved disputes with Financial Service Providers
who are either regulated by the Financial Regulator or are subject to the
terms of the Consumer Credit Act 1995.

The Act under which the Financial Services Ombudsman was created 
provides that the Ombudsman must be independent in the execution of
functions relating to the adjudication of complaints and decisions of the
Ombudsman are only appealable to the High Court.

The Ombudsman can award compensation of up to ¤250,000 where
a complaint is upheld. The role is therefore a quasi-judicial one and
whether a complaint can be upheld or not is determined on the basis of
evidence furnished, examined and reviewed.
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Chairperson’s Report

This report reflects on what was another very busy and challenging year for the current Financial 
Services Ombudsman Council which commenced its term on 29 October 2008. 

As one of its statutory functions, as prescribed by the Central Bank and Financial Services 
Authority of Ireland Act 2004, Council appointed the Ombudsman and the two Deputy Ombudsmen 
in 2005. Thereafter and throughout 2009 the business of the Council related mainly to discharging its 
other statutory functions which are:

• to prescribe guidelines under which the Ombudsman is to operate;
• to determine the levies and charges payable for the performance of services provided by  

the Ombudsman;
• to keep under review the efficiency and effectiveness of the Office and to advise the  

Minister for Finance, either at the Minister’s request or at its own initiative, on any matter 
relevant to the Ombudsman’s operation; and

• to advise the Ombudsman on any matter on which he seeks advice.

While the Ombudsman is responsible for the operational aspects of the Bureau’s finances, the 
Council, acting on the advice of the Minister for Finance, has overall responsibility for accounting 
standards. To that end the Council, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, ensured that 
Government policy on the pay and conditions of service of the Ombudsman, the Deputy Ombudsmen 
and all staff members has been complied with, as well as Government guidelines on the payment 
of Council Members’ fees and expenses. The Council noted that the Guidelines for the Appraisal 
and Management of Capital Expenditure Proposals are being complied with and that appropriate 
Corporate Governance principles are also reviewed and monitored for effectiveness in application. 
The Council adheres to the Standards and Ethics in Public Office legislation and has ensured, and 
will continue to ensure, that the appropriate Statements of Interests are made by both by the Council 
members and by the relevant staff of the Office of the Ombudsman.

The Council has no role regarding complaints resolution, as this is statutorily the independent 
function of the Financial Services Ombudsman. However, the Council cannot ignore the constant and 
not insignificant increase in the Bureau caseload and the complexity of the matters the Ombudsman 
and Bureau staff has had to consider. Despite these difficulties the overall throughput and the public 
profile of the office is positive and crucial to providing much needed consumer confidence.

I mentioned last year how Council is anxious to ensure that the expeditious, accessible and 
informal approach which the Ombudsman is statutorily required to adopt is not replaced by a more 
formal tribunal styled format. When considering the 2010 budget, Council determined that the charges 
and fees as set out were as should be necessarily incurred in the normal course of business expenditure 
of the Bureau. Council was conscious of the need for careful and prudent consideration of the measures 
to be adopted by the Ombudsman toward ensuring expenditure at a level that was appropriate.

I wish to reiterate my high regard of and gratitude to all of my fellow Council Members. Each 
gave of their significant expertise with true professionalism and consideration in what was an 
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especially active, demanding and challenging first year and term. Council has used its best endeavours 
to ensure that our contributions were relevant, effective and timely and we shall continue in this vein 
and, wherever possible, enhance them. 

On behalf of myself and my colleagues on the Council I would mention how we are appreciative 
of the significant input of the Secretary to the Council, Jim Bardon. 

I also wish to pay tribute to the Minister for Finance and the staff of his Department, for the time 
and the support to mine, the Council’s and Ombudsman’s role.

 Change is inevitable and as we complete this year the Bureau enters a new period of leadership, 
management and progress following the retirement of the Ombudsman and his two deputies. I wish to 
make special reference to the outstanding contributions of the Ombudsman Joe Meade and Deputy 
Ombudsmen Caroline Gill and Gerry Murphy during their terms of office and, on behalf of Council, 
wish them well in all of their future endeavours in well earned retirement. 

Thanks and congratulations must also extend to the Acting Deputy Ombudsman, Mary Rose 
McGovern and the heads of administration, investigations and all of the staff for their individual and 
combined efforts. It has been through those combined efforts and leadership that we have ensured 
that an effective, progressive and cost-efficient Bureau not just exists, but rather is in increasing 
demand due to the high regard and position in which it is held by the citizens for whom it exists. 

Special mention, thanks and congratulations must go to the interim Ombudsman P.J. Fitzpatrick 
for his exceptional stewardship of the Bureau during the recruitment process for the new Ombudsman.

I will close by warmly welcoming, on behalf of Council, that newly appointed Ombudsman, 
Bill Prasifka, and wishing him success and fulfilment in his role. The Council and I look forward to 
supporting and working with him in our combined commitment to continuous improvement and 
serving the needs of all who have reason to contact his office.

Dermott Jewell
Chairperson, Financial Services Ombudsman Council

May 2010
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The Council

Mr. Michael Connolly
Mr. Connolly (B.B.S. (Trinity College Dublin), F.I.B.) is a Financial Services / Small Business 

Consultant. He is a Director of the National Asset Management Agency (NAMA) and a  

Director of PMI Europe Holdings Ltd. He was a former General Manager with Bank of Ireland 

Group which included responsibility for business banking, credit control, international banking, 

finance and group insurance. He also served as Chairman of Bank of Ireland Group’s Investment 

Committee and as a Bank Pension Fund Trustee.

Mr. Dermot Jewell, Chairperson
Mr Jewell (B.Sc. Mgmt. (Law), CIArb.) is Chief Executive of the Consumers’ Association of Ireland. 

He is Chairperson / Director of the Irish European Consumer Centre (ECC), Director of Investor 

Compensation Company Limited and Hon. Treasurer of the Chartered Institute of Arbitration (Irish 

Branch). He is Ireland’s representative on the Consumer Consultative Group (ECCG) of the European 

Commission. Mr Jewell is a contracted trainer/lecturer on the Management, Leadership and Finance 

Modules of the European Commission-DG Sanco Training Projects for consumer organisations.’

Mr. Anthony Kerr
Mr. Kerr is a Statutory Lecturer in the School of Law, University College Dublin. He was called 

to the Irish Bar in 1989 and is the author of a number of books included The Civil Liability Acts 

(3rd Ed., Thomson Round Hall, 2005).

Mr. Paddy Leydon
Paddy Leydon is the previous Chairperson of the Credit Institutions Ombudsman voluntary 

scheme who was subsumed in the Financial Services Ombudsman Bureau in 2005. A Regional 

Business Manager with Bank of Ireland based in the North West he is a Fellow of the Institute of 

Bankers in Ireland.
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Ms. Catríona Ní Charra
Ms. Ní Charra was appointed as a member of the first Financial Services Ombudsman Council 

and was reappointed. She has worked with the Money Advice and Budgeting Service (MABS) for 

15 years. She has particular interest in debt and poverty issues, as well as financial literacy. She has 

worked as an independent researcher and trainer. Ms. Ní Charra also worked for the Health Service 

Executive (HSE) and the Department of Social and Family Affairs. She was a former Director and 

Company Secretary of Consumer DebtNet, a European umbrella group for money advice services.

Mr. Jim Bardon, Secretary to the Council
Mr. Bardon worked in various positions in Bank of Ireland between 1966 and 1988 including 

Manager Internal Audit and Senior Manager in Group Executive Office. He was Director 

General of the Irish Bankers Federation from 1988 to 2004 during which time he chaired the 

Executive Committee of the European Banking Federation for two years. He is Chairman of  

the Investor Compensation Company Limited.

Mr. Frank Wynn
Mr. Wynn is General Manager, Group Compliance and Operation Risk with Irish Life and 

Permanent plc. He is and accountant (FCCA), an Associate of the Chartered Insurance Institute 

and an Associate of the Irish Institute of Pension Managers. He is a Council Member of the 

Insurance Institute of Dublin and a member of the Technical Committee of the Association of 

Compliance Officers in Ireland.

Mr. Paddy Lyons
Mr. Lyons holds a B.A. in Economics and M. Litt in Economic Statistics from Trinity College 

Dublin. He was a lecturer in Economics in Trinity College from 1965 to 1991. He was a member of 

the Fair Trade Commission / Restrictive Practices Commission from 1970 to 1991 and Chairman of 

the Competition Authority from 1991 to 1996. He was a member of the EU and OECD Committees 

on Competition from 1973 to 1996, a member of the National Prices Commission from 1978 to 1986 

and a member of the Financial Services Ombudsman Council from 2004. Mr. Lyons has worked as a 

Competition Consultant since 1996. He was an External Director on the Board of the Irish Music Rights 

Organisation from 1997 to 2006.
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Function of the Council
The Financial Services Ombudsman Council is appointed by the Minister for Finance.  
Its main functions are to:

• Appoint the Financial Services Ombudsman and any Deputy Ombudsman;
• Prescribe guidelines under which the Financial Services Ombudsman’s Bureau is to operate
• Determine the levies and charges payable for the performance of services provided by  

the Ombudsman;
• Keep under review the efficiency and effectiveness of the Financial Services Ombudsman’s 

Bureau and to advise the Minister for Finance, either at the Minister’s request or at its own 
initiative, on any matter relevant to the Ombudsman’s operation;

• Advise the Ombudsman on any matter on which he seeks advice.

Members of the Council
The Financial Services Ombudsman Council is appointed by the Minister for Finance. In October 
2008 the Minister appointed the following as members of the Financial Services Ombudsman Council 
for a 5 year period.

• Mr. Dermott Jewell (Chairperson);
• Mr. Michael Connolly;
• Mr. Anthony Kerr;
• Mr. Paddy Leydon;
• Mr. Paddy Lyons;
• Ms. Caitríona Ní Charra;
• Mr. Frank Wynn.

Mr. Jim Bardon is the Secretary to the Financial Services Ombudsman Council.

Council Sub-Committees

Audit Committee
Members: Mr. Paddy Lyons (Chairperson), Mr. Noel O’Connell, Mr. Michael Connolly.

Finance Committee
Members: Mr. Paddy Lyons (Chairperson), Mr. Frank Wynn, Mr. Dermot Jewell, 
Ms. Caitríona Ní Charra.

Remuneration and Governance Committee
Members: Mr. Dermot Jewell (Chairperson), Mr. Paddy Leydon, Mr. Frank Wynn, Mr. Tony Kerr. 
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Meetings

a) Council
During 2009, the Financial Services Ombudsman Council held 7 formal meetings. 
Attendance was as follows: 

meetings

mr. dermott jewell (chairperson) 7

mr. michael connolly 7

mr. anthony kerr 6

mr. paddy leydon 6

mr. paddy lyons 6

ms. caitríona ní charra 4

mr. frank wynn 7

b) Council Sub-Committees
	 Audit	Committee

Met on 4 occasions

	 Finance	Committee
Met on 2 occasions

	 Remuneration	and	Governance	Committee
Met on 6 occasions 

Council Remuneration / Expenses
The Minister for Finance decides the level of annual fees to be paid to the Council members;  
¤12,600 is paid to each member with ¤21,600 to the Chairperson. These fees were reduced by  
10 percent from 1 April 2009. Claims for reimbursement of travel and subsistence expenses at  
current public service rates are submitted quarterly.
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I hereby present to the Council the fifth Annual Report of the Financial Services Ombudsman  
for the 2009 year.

2009 in Summary
The office was extremely busy in 2009 as:

• 7,619 complaints were received – a significant increase of 28%;
• 6,255 complaints were concluded. This includes 2,095 complaints concluded after initial referral  

of the Complainants back to the Financial Service Provider and no further action was required  
by this Office;

• 3,805 complaints overall were resolved in the Complainants’ favour when taking the above figure 
into account – 61% overall;

• Approximately 25,000 complaints have been received since this Office was set up in April 2005;
• Over 17,000 telephone calls were received while over 200,000 visits were made to the website;
• Statutory levies totalling ¤5,891,521 were collected;
• IT systems work well and revisions were made where appropriate to the complaints handling 

systems and administration procedures;
• The administration of the office continues to be highly effective even though it is more 

challenging to maintain throughput in the current climate;
• It is estimated that conservatively over ¤60m has been made good to consumers as a result of  

the Office’s work since 2005. The cumulative knock-on effect this work has on the financial 
industry in getting matters resolved which do not come to the Office is a further major benefit;

• The profile of the office during 2009 was high, not alone from media profile but from the 
increasing number of complaints and information requests received, as well as dealing with  
very significant complex matters;

• There were some major High Court Findings in our favour and at year end a Supreme Court 
judgment was awaited. 

General Matters of Concern
During 2009 the following matters were of particular concern and are outlined in detail in the  
later Sections of this Report.

• Because of the economic downturn, the inability of Providers to pay awards made by the 
Ombudsman. Consideration should be given to revising the Investor Compensation Company 
Limited to ensure that where companies have gone into liquidation or are unable to pay awards 
that this fund should meet it. The matter has been raised with the Financial Regulator and the 
Department of Finance;

Ombudsman’s Introduction
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• Accountants, solicitors and other investment advisors are not subject to the Ombudsman’s remit. 
Representations have been made to the Department of Finance and the Financial Regulator on 
this matter;

• The activities of the Office must be carried out in private. The views of the Department of 
Finance have been sought about providing statutory protection to the Ombudsman where he  
may name providers, if he considers it in the public interest to do so;

• The judgment delivered in the High Court on 27 August 2009 was of particular significance.  
It clarified in detail the role of the Ombudsman, that it was for him to decide whether or not to 
investigate a complaint and how remedies proposed were to be effected;

• Concerns about how stockbroker’s private discretionary accounts are operated were brought to 
the attention of the Financial Regulator.

Funding
The Office is funded by statutory levies on Financial Service Providers. The Office’s running costs 
for 2009 were ¤5,131,945. Collection of the levies was satisfactory. Running costs were kept under  
very tight control.

International Conference
During 2009, the Office hosted the annual conference of the International Network of Financial 
Services Ombudsman Schemes. It was a very successful Conference and valuable insights were gained 
during the two day Conference.Strategy Statement.

In 2009 a new Strategy Statement for the next three years was due to be completed. However, 
because of uncertainties as to the future role of the office, it was not possible to finalise it. In early 
2009 it was indicated that the Office might be merged with the Financial Regulator and following the 
publication of the Report of Special Group on Public Service Numbers and Expenditure Programmes 
(McCarthy Report) in July 2009 it was also indicated that the Pensions Ombudsman might be  
merged with this Office. The draft Strategy Statement was submitted to Council for consideration  
in December 2009.
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Appreciation 
The dedication and commitment of all the staff of the Office who worked during 2009, is to be 
complimented and the throughput of the Office has been satisfactory. They deserve our highest 
praise and I, as the new Ombudsman, look forward to working with them in the years ahead. I would 
also like to pay tribute to Caroline Gill, who retired at year end to pursue other career interests,  
Gerry Murphy, who retired in July, for their work as Deputy Financial Services Ombudsmen, and to 
Joe Meade the first person to hold the position of Financial Services Ombudsman who retired at the 
start of the year. This report is their legacy.

In 2009 the Council and its Chairperson worked very closely with the Ombudsman to ensure that 
their respective roles were carried out in a proper and efficient manner. This helped the performance 
of the Office overall and gratitude is extended to the Council. 

The Office is grateful for the support of Government, the Oireachtas, Department of Finance 
officials, the Financial Regulator and the Pensions Ombudsman. Appreciation is also due to the 
Financial Service Providers, to the media and to all Complainants and members of the public who 
made contact with the office as well as our various service providers such as legal, auditing and 
information technology.

Outlook
The years ahead will continue to be challenging. Complaints will be likely to continue to increase.  
The continuing financial and economic crisis will place increased demands on the Office. The public 
will quite properly demand a high level of service from us. It is heartening to note that the funding  
for the office for 2010 is satisfactory even when the levy to be paid has been reduced by 10%. I aim  
to build on the achievements to date and ensure that an efficient and effective service is provided  
to everybody.

William Prasifka
Financial Services Ombudsman



Mr. William Prasifka
Financial Services Ombudsman

Ms. Mary Rose McGovern
Acting Deputy Financial Services Ombudsman

Mr. Diarmuid Byrne
Head of Administration
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Staff
title grade

management

william prasifka ombudsman

mary rose mcgovern acting deputy ombudsman principal officer

diarmuid byrne head of administration  / 
hr and finance

principal officer

investigation unit

michael brennan principal investigator assistant principal officer

sinéad brennan senior investigator higher executive officer

conor cashman senior investigator higher executive officer

joanne cronin senior investigator higher executive officer

sophie hart senior investigator higher executive officer

darragh king senior investigator higher executive officer

anthony o’riordan senior investigator higher executive officer

kathleen o’sullivan senior investigator higher executive officer

cairen power senior investigator higher executive officer

pre-investigation unit

meagan gill case manager assistant principal officer

kevin fleming complaints officer executive officer

marta piekarz executive officer

des butler clerical officer

tomás murray clerical officer

paul heffernan clerical officer

paul o’connor clerical officer

dale hayes clerical officer
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title grade

finance department

evelyn moore finance officer higher executive officer

hr department

patricia heffernan hr administrator higher executive officer

support staff

sylvia costello pa to the ombudsman higher executive officer

joan mcguinness executive officer

administration unit

julianne fitzpatrick reception clerical officer

susan tobin reception clerical officer

jim bardon secretary to the council
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Complaints
01

Overview
During 2009:

• 7,619 complaints were received, an increase of 28% over 2008; 4,668 complaints were made  
against the Insurance Sector and 2,951 complaints against Credit Institutions Sector (Table 1);

• 6,255 cases were concluded during 2009; this included 2,095 where after this office initially 
referred complaints to the Financial Service Provider they were resolved without any further 
action having to be taken by this office (Table 1 and Table 3);

• 3,805 complaints overall were resolved in Complainants’ favour when account is taken of the 
above number of complaints 6,255 - 61% overall (Table 3). 

Of the 4,160 complaints concluded after direct involvement by this office the following  
percentages arise (table 3):

insurance / credit institutions

upheld 23%

mediation and settlements 18%

resolved in complainants’ favour 41%

not upheld 37%

outside remit 16% 

advisory referrals 6%
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Table 1: Summary
2009 2008 % increase

complaints on hand at 1st january 2009 2,333 1,280 82%

new complaints received 7,619 5,947 28%

9,952 7,227 37%

complaints concluded following:

ombudsman involvement 3,264 3,034 7.5%

amicably (outside remit and referrals)* 2,991 1,853 61%

6,255 4,887 28% 

complaints on hand at 31st december 2009 3,697 2,340 50%

*	 	Amicable	Resolution	means	resolved	after	initial	referral	by	Ombudsman	to	financial	service	provider	
and	includes	cases	which	were	outside	of	the	bureau’s	remit	and	those	referred	to	other	agencies.	

Table 2: Complaints received

a) insurance / investment sector 2009 2008 % increase

insurance companies: life 1,976* 1,453 36%

insurance companies: non-life 1,762 1,320 33%

health insurers 184 183 0.5%

intermediaries 630 259 143%

others 116 117 -0.5%

total 4,668 3,332 40%



annual report 2009 21

Table 2: Complaints received (continued)

b) credit institutions 2009 2008 % increase

banks 2,461 2,065 19%

building societies 189 144 31%

credit unions 64 49 30%

stockbrokers 56 63 -11%

intermediaries 119 158 -25%

others 62 136 -54

total 2,951 2,615 13%

*	 In	relation	to	the	Life	figure	of	1976;	1,309	cases	relate	solely	to	investment.

Table 3: Summary of Complaints Concluded

insurance / 
investment

credit 
institutions total

a)  resolved after initial referral
to financial service providers 1,051 1,044 2,095

b)  concluded following 
ombudsman involvement

b1. upheld 463 459

b2. mediation and settlements 471 317

b3. not upheld 933 621

b4. outside remit 353 333

b5. advisory referrals 103 107

total 2,323 1,837 4,160

c)   resolved to complainants’ satisfaction
   resolved a, upheld b1

and settlements b2 1,985 1,820 3,805
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Complaint Trends by Area of Business

b) insurance: non-life 2009 2008

travel 262 360

motor 772 569

household buildings 332 155

household contents 116 85

payment / loan protection 216 100

savings policy / ssias 7 17

mobile phones 33 37

commercial 56 42

personal accident 30 21

hospital cash plan 10 18

miscellaneous (including, inter alia, pet, farm, 
computer, marine, dental and insurance) 80 117

total 1,914 1521

 insurance: life 

medical expenses 282 175

life assurance including phi 473 514

investment policy 1309 621

endowment policy 116 80

mortgage protection 135 79

pension 244 199

salary protection or income continuance 116 66

critical / serious illness 79 77

total 2,754 1,811

 credit institutions

account transactions 620 617

mortgages 850 517

investments 246 413

credit cards 377 331

lending  507 358

atm  121 161

service issues 154 123

foreign exchange  30 17

other 46 78

total credit institutions 2,951 2,615
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Complaint Trends by Nature of Complaint

insurance sector 2009 2008

repudiation of claim 1,021 736

claims handling issues 483 195

customer care 155 121

maladministration 434 504

mis-selling 749 462

misrepresentation 150 83

settlement amount 134 169

lapse / cancellation of policy 177 158

general advice 7 51

pre-existing condition 51 83

policy reviews 114 175

premium rates 118 47

non-disclosure 73 34

surrender values 413 105

paid up policy values 105 51

direct debit 11 9

no claims bonus 36 24

third party insurers 41 42

fees and commission charges 86 48

subrogation 13 11

bonus rates 21 4

policy renewal 29 29

declined quotation 22 13

pre-accident value 22 18

policy terms 129 62

premium collection 33 18

fraud 2 1

unclassified / outside bureau’s remit 39 79

total 4,668 3,332
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 credit institutions 2009 2008

general account issues 377 294

misleading information / mis-selling 128 219

fees and charges 214 189

mortgage issues 213 168

atm withdrawals  81 161

interest rates  271 153

service issues 154 152

repayment terms 194 138

insurance issues 184 135

disputed transactions 73 127

credit card issues 186 110

lending issues 196 109

investment issues 62 90

other 46 78

investment loss 48 74

opening / closing accounts 60 74

transfer of funds / account 57 72

cheques 52 66

credit rating  43 64

redemption / change of mortgage 237 58

refusals  50 54

ssia issues  4 19

dormant accounts 14 11

maladministration / negligence 7 -

total credit institutions  2,951 2,615
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Published Findings
Significant findings were published on our website during 2009. These are published in Part 04  
and concerned the following matters:

• ¤250,000 to retired farmer for bank’s cavalier approach and belittling remarks;
• ¤410,000 invested in Property Bond to be refunded in full;
• Grandmother’s ¤10,000 ‘burial fund’ and her grandchild’s ¤2,000 wrongly invested;
• ¤143,000 to two elderly couples needed personal intervention of Ombudsman;
• Mortgage rate to remain at original tracker rate at end of fixed rate period;
• No breakage fee to be charged on exit from a fixed rate mortgage;
• Investment Mortgage rate alteration was incorrect;
• ¤175,000 award for ¤290,000 loss suffered by elderly couple;
• ¤100,000 Credit Union investment loss to be refunded;
• ¤100,000 for lost land certificate in cancelled ¤225,000 sale;
• ¤10,000 to Credit Union for loss of ¤28,000 in ¤130,000 life policy;
• ¤21,000 award as move of pension policy to secure fund not carried out;
• ¤6,500 for incorrect statement to pensioners about access to investment;
• Stockbroker’s inappropriate investments merits awards totalling ¤125,000;
• ¤950,000 investment complaint not upheld;
• Overcharging of insurance premiums for non smokers discovered;
• ¤1,000 to grandmother, an uninsured driver, for Insurance Company error;
• 50% award for stolen car valued at ¤20,000;
• Insurance loss assessor no help to his client;
• Credit Union was wrong to release ¤5,400 from a minor’s account;
• Hire Purchase Company’s ten day clearance period inequitable;
• Change in maternity benefit cover was not an upgrade;
• ¤2,000 for sale of over 65 mortgage protector policy;
• ¤345,000 returned to two elderly investors for inappropriate investment;
• ¤300,000 refunded for six year investment bond wrongly sold to 85 year old couple;
• ¤7,000 award for breakage fee conditions on fixed rate mortgages not clearly stated;
• ¤116,000 award to elderly investors for wrong sale of ¤560,000 ten year bond;
• ¤90,000 for not explaining the downsides of a ¤150,000 geared property fund;
• ¤60,000 for unsuitable ¤75,000 High Risk Property Fund Investment;
• ¤53,000 award for non-disclosure of conflict of interest in investment property;
• ¤6,600 where ¤40,000 retirement lump sum investment fell ¤10,500 within a year;
• ¤6,500 for unsolicited approach to old age pensioner to change a ¤35,000 investment;
• ¤1m of alleged inappropriate investments by elderly person not upheld;
• Non payment of ¤625,000 life assurance death benefit by company was correct;
• ¤100,000 Investment Bond complaint not upheld;
• Six month notice period for cashing in investment cost investor ¤5,000;
• Accountancy firm’s role in ‘execution only’ ¤500,000 investment was confusing;
• ¤7,500 award to widower told in error of possible¤130,000 in death benefit;
• ¤3,000 for insurance reviews not carried out – possible 96,000 other cases;
• Benefit of ¤25,000 paid to blind person as Company’s actions were unfair;
• Cause of death insurance benefit condition was inequitable – ¤25,000;
• Cardiac Surgery costs of ¤15,000 and 50% of health insurance claim of ¤11,400 paid;
• Benefit of doubt in complaint regarding ¤18,000 disability payment;
• Concerns about motor insurance policies cancelled over the phone;
• Burned out car complaint of ¤3,500 and son stealing it not disclosed;
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• ¤30,000 stolen property from guesthouse and non-disclosure of prior claims;
• ¤200 awarded for delay in paying travel insurance claim;
• Hair transplant eyebrow treatment health insurance claim not upheld;
• Bank account of deceased could not be released to a brother;
• Allegation of ¤540 Credit card fraud in Thailand was upheld;
• Only ¤2,000 of foreign ATM withdrawals of ¤4,000 were fraudulent;
• ¤4,000 for person on ‘Social Welfare’ and loan repayments;
• ¤22,000 travel insurance cancellation claim upheld.

Issues arising during 2009

Inability of providers to pay Ombudsman’s awards
Many complaints upheld by the Ombudsman related to investment advice, misrepresentation or  
poor investment performance and involve large amounts of money.

During 2009 the Ombudsman noticed that some providers went into liquidation or out of 
business. In two instances the compensation awarded is being paid over a period of time in instalments 
as the providers’ professional indemnity insurance would not pay up the amounts in question – 
¤50,000 and ¤15,000 respectively. In two other instances where High Court appeals went in the 
Ombudsman’s favour the provider concerned stated that it may not be able to pay the ¤60,000 
awarded as it had no funds. Where large awards had been made and are under appeal to the High 
Court – ¤500,000, ¤700,000 and ¤100,000 - the professional indemnity insurer of the providers has 
indicated that it will not be willing to pay up that award if the appeal is unsuccessful. It was also not 
possible to enforce other awards or deal with some complaints against another provider as registered 
post was returned undelivered because the offices were closed - in one case an award of ¤63,000 was 
involved. For some intermediaries a renewal of their professional indemnity insurance was proving 
problematic. While enforcement action was initiated in particular instances, the prospects of payment 
recovery are slight and additional legal costs are incurred by the Ombudsman.

The fact that the consumer may not get compensation or any other monetary remedy directed 
by the Ombudsman is a problem. Compensation or mitigation awards made would be worthless and 
consumers may not be protected at all. These concerns have been brought to the attention of the 
Financial Regulator and the Department of Finance. The establishment of an investor compensation 
fund funded by the financial services sector would address these concerns. The current Investor 
Compensation Company Limited (ICCL) does not provide compensation for losses arising from bad 
investment advice, poor investment management or misrepresentation but it could be amended to 
provide for awards being honoured. This may lead to increased levies on the industry but is preferable 
to the alternative of having no protection for vulnerable people.

Fixed Rate Mortgages breakage fees
The Ombudsman received a significant number of complaints in mid 2009 about the size of the 
breakage fee where a person wanted to switch from a fixed rate to a variable or other rate mortgage. 
In some instances the amounts varied between ¤20,000 and ¤45,000 where only six months of a 
mortgage had elapsed. In deciding on each case the Ombudsman considered whether the fee and how 
it was made up were disclosed to the customer when the mortgage was taken out. He also considered 
whether the fee was properly charged in line with the terms and conditions of the contract and 
whether the fee was calculated correctly. 

Each complaint was considered on its merits and many were not upheld as the fee was calculated 
correctly and in line with contractual provisions. In deciding on the cases the Ombudsman stated that 
the cost of breaking the fixed rate agreement is determined by the wholesale market rates at the date 
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the agreement was cancelled. He also noted that the breakage fee does not include any profit for the 
Provider as it represents a real cost to the Provider which has entered into commitments to fund the 
particular rate provided in the fixed rate agreement. The Provider must continue the commitment 
regardless of whether the customer remains on the rate or opts to break out. As such there was no 
room for negotiation on the costs involved as to reduce the breakage fee would result in an immediate 
and ongoing loss for the Provider. Whilst the Ombudsman recognised that the breakage fee 
represented a significant portion of the overall redemption figure and made it difficult for customers 
to switch to much cheaper variable mortgages, the complaints were not upheld where the breakage fee 
nonetheless was properly calculated.

However, the Ombudsman did uphold some complaints and published three case studies in 
December 2009 where:

• Mortgage rate was to remain at original tracker rate at end of fixed rate period due to the  
terms of the contract;

• No breakage fee was to be charged on exit from a fixed rate mortgage due to commitments  
given over the phone;

• ¤7,000 award where the breakage fee conditions were not clearly stated.

Investment advisors not subject to Ombudsman’s remit
During 2008/9 the Ombudsman received a number of complaints against accountants who gave 
investment advice but he could not deal with them. Accountants are authorised as investment 
intermediaries. They are generally authorised under approved professional bodies’ status and are 
subject only to their self regulatory accountancy body. He had to decline investigating three major 
complaints involving accountancy firms where the amount invested was up to ¤700,000 in each 
instance. If found to be in breach by their professional body no compensation would be paid in most 
instances whereas the Ombudsman can award up to ¤250,000 in compensation as well as directing 
that the investment loss be made good.

The Ombudsman raised his concerns with the Financial Regulator that where some accountancy 
firms have an authorised intermediary arm which would be subject to his remit consumers may 
be confused as to which part of the firm they are dealing with. He considers that where any type 
of financial service is provided whether by accountants, legal firms, estate agents, An Post, etc. 
complaints should be subject to the Ombudsman’s remit so as to have a level playing field for all  
and especially for consumers. 

The Department of Finance discussed during 2009 the matter of complaints against the POSB 
coming under the Ombudsman’s remit with the NTMA and other interested parties. This matter was 
raised by the Ombudsman as well as by Council since 2006. At present any consumer problems with 
the POSB are subject to the (Public Sector) Ombudsman who cannot award compensation. 

The Ombudsman also raised with the Department and with the Financial Regulator the position 
of travel agents and other tour operators who sell travel insurance. Where an issue arises regarding 
the sales process of travel insurance policies or what was said or not disclosed at the point of their sale 
he cannot deal with that matter as travel agents are not financial service providers. He suggested that 
where they sell or market travel insurance policies this aspect of their work should be classified as a 
financial service subject to the Ombudsman’s remit. 

Matters to come under the Ombudsman’s remit are ultimately a matter to be decided on by the 
Minister for Finance. 
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Naming of Providers
The naming of Financial Service Providers, when case studies are published is also an issue that has 
received media coverage. In his Annual Report for 2006 the Ombudsman outlined in detail why 
institutions could not be named, for example, on legislative, privacy and fairness considerations.  
This issue continues to arise, especially with the media in the light of the major findings published  
in 2008 and 2009. 

After further reflection of this matter during 2009 the Ombudsman considered that it would  
be best not to name in general but to have the option, if considered to be in the public interest,  
to name an institution. 

Whether it is an appropriate power or not is ultimately a matter to be decided by the Oireachtas. 
Factors against it are that the Ombudsman Scheme is working very well as it is; complainants may be 
less inclined to bring a complaint if they consider they might be named; institutions may take a more 
defensive line and might appeal findings more to the courts if they felt they were to be named anyway. 
In its favour is the fact that for very serious issues an institution which is found to have acted wrongly 
should be publicly named; it could be a preventative measure and the threat of being named could act 
to ensure that malfeasance, when discovered, would be easily rectified, and less likely to occur again.

Any legislation would have to be very specific to provide that only where it was considered that  
it would be in the public interest to name an institution, complainants should not be named and 
indeed that the Ombudsman should not have to publish and name every finding. The Ombudsman 
could see reasonable arguments being put forward by institutions that he could be selective in naming, 
about the criteria for naming and about safeguards necessary to ensure that institutions were not 
targeted unfairly. 

All of these issues would have to be considered carefully before any amendments to legislation 
could be proposed. On balance the Ombudsman considered that he should have the power, if he 
deemed it appropriate, to name institutions where he felt it was in the public interest. However, before 
he could do that, legislation would have to be amended to give that power, specifically Section 57CC 
of the Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland Act 2004. Any legislative change 
would also require statutory privilege covering the naming of institutions.

The Minister for Finance has brought the matter to the attention of the Attorney General for  
his observations.

High Court Judgment
The Findings of the Ombudsman are subject to appeal and/or judicial review to the High Court.

In a judgment delivered on 27 August 2009 in the Square Capital v Financial Services 
Ombudsman appeal, the High Court clarified the role of the Ombudsman and indicated that where 
investment property advice is part of advice given by a financial intermediary, then it falls within  
the remit of the Ombudsman.

The following extracts from the detailed judgment are of importance:

a)	 Role	of	the	Ombudsman

“It	is	important	to	fully	appreciate	the	role	of	the	Ombudsman	when	a	Court	such	as	this	is	considering	an	
appeal	from	his	decision.	Clearly	an	appeal	to	this	Court	from	the	Ombudsman’s	decision	is	not	a	full	hearing	
of	the	case	where	the	Court	looks	afresh	at	all	material	and	comes	to	its	own	conclusion	as	to	what	it	would	have	
done	in	the	circumstances.	The	appeal	here,	while	having	some	of	the	characteristics	of	the	traditional	judicial	
review,	including	some	differential	recognition	for	the	expertise	of	the	Ombudsman,	will	also	have	to	bear	in	
mind	the	nature	and	the	functions	of	the	Financial	Services	Ombudsman	as	laid	down	by	the	Oireachtas.”
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b)	 Decision	to	investigate	the	complaint	or	not

“It	follows	from	the	definitions	that	the	decision	as	to	whether	or	not	a	complaint	falls	within	his	jurisdiction	
is	one	that	falls	to	the	Ombudsman	to	determine.	This	is	not	to	suggest	that	the	Court	never	has	a	role	to	play	in	
interpreting	the	Act,	but	it	should	intervene	only	in	clear	cut	cases	and	then,	only	if	such	a	case	contains	a	serious	
and	significant	error.”

c)	 Remedy	proposed	by	Ombudsman

“It	must	also	be	recorded	that	the	office	of	the	Ombudsman	is	different	from	an	ordinary	Court	of	Law	
and	the	provisions	of	the	legislation	already	noted,	mean	that	the	Ombudsman	has	greater	flexibility	and	choice	
in	fashioning	an	appropriate	remedy	in	cases	that	come	before	him.	The	relevant	provision	enables	him,	for	
example,	to	mitigate	or	change	the	conduct	complained	of	or	a	practice	relating	to	that	conduct.	In	my	view,		
it	is	important,	therefore,	that	appropriate	latitude	should	be	given	to	the	Ombudsman	in	determining	what		
the	appropriate	remedy	is	in	the	circumstances	of	each	individual	case.”

Stockbroker Private Discretionary Client Accounts
Stockbrokers operate client accounts in a discretionary manner. In those circumstances the firm 
would not need investors’ instructions before buying or selling investments. 

The Ombudsman made separate findings against a stock broking firm regarding the sale of 
high risk property investment products to two individual complainants. The investments totalling 
¤330,000 lost their total value.

In one case the investor was classed as low risk while in the other case the investor was classed 
as medium risk. It was alleged that the firm had a conflict of interest as it was also promoting the 
particular fund. The Ombudsman noted that the investors had got the brochures and signed the 
necessary forms before the stockbroker made the investments.

While the Ombudsman noted that the investment products clearly stated that they were high 
risk nevertheless he found it disquieting that such products were offered to both investors considering 
their risk profiles. In the circumstances he considered that the investors themselves had to bear some 
responsibility and accordingly he directed that 30% and 60% of the losses incurred be made good to 
the medium and low risk investors respectively- in total ¤125,000.

He brought this matter to the attention of the Financial Regulator as he was concerned about  
the firm’s sales practices. Similar type products may have been part of other investors’ portfolios  
and the Ombudsman was conscious that in some instances the firm was operating other clients’ 
accounts in a private discretionary manner. Indeed in one of the cases such an agreement was in place 
but interestingly the firm had sought permission before it made the investment even though it was  
not necessary.
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Organisational Matters
02

Co-operation with Financial Regulator and Pensions Ombudsman
Meetings were held during the year with both the Pensions Ombudsman and the Financial Regulator. 
The 3 Offices adhered to the provisions of the Memorandums of Understanding to which the  
3 Offices are signatories. 

FIN-NET, Cross Border Co-operation
The Ombudsman is a member of FIN-NET. FIN-NET is a financial dispute resolution network of 
national out-of-court complaint schemes in the European Economic Area countries (the European 
Union Member States plus Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway) that are responsible for handling 
disputes between consumers and Financial Service Providers, (i.e. banks, insurance companies, 
investment firms and others). This network was launched by the European Commission in 2001.

Within FIN-NET, the schemes cooperate to provide consumers with easy access to out-of-court 
complaint procedures in cross-border cases. If a consumer in one country has a dispute with a  
Financial Service Provider in another country, FIN-NET members will put the consumer in touch  
with the relevant out-of court complaint scheme and provide the necessary information about it.

Public Information
Presentations during the year included:

• Insurance Institutes – Dublin and Galway;
• Over 50s trade shows in Dublin;
• Tullamore Agricultural Show;
• FBD Insurance;
• Irish Brokers Association;
• Irish Creamery Milk Suppliers Association annual general meeting;
• Partner Re Insurance Europe;
• Age Action Ireland Conference;
• LIA seminars in Limerick and Galway;
• Waterford Institute of Technology;
• Kilkenny, Carlow, Laois and Tipperary Credit Union Chapter;
• Credit Union Managers Association;
• Credit Union National Supervisors Forum;
• Quinn Business School UCD;
• Bank of Scotland Ireland;
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• Irish Banking Federation and Institute of Bankers;
• Law Reform Commission;
• Securities and Investment Institute;
• Financial Planning Standards Board;
• Chartered Institute for Securities and Investment.

International Presentations during the year included:

• British and Irish Ombudsman Association Annual Conference in England;
• Czech Republic Banking Seminar.

Visit to the Bureau during the year by officials from:

• EU Commission;
• European Parliament;
• Financial Ombudsmen from UK, Australia, New Zealand, Canada, South Africa,  

France and USA.

Meetings during the year included:

• Professional Insurance Brokers Association;
• Irish Brokers Association;
• Irish Insurance Federation;
• Irish Banking Federation;
• Irish League of Credit Unions;
• VHI;
• Department of Health and Children;
• Prudential Insurance;
• European Consumer Centre;
• Irish Insurance Institute;
• IFSC based Financial Service Providers;
• Individual Financial Service Providers;
• Individual Consumers.

Other public information during the year included:

• Articles in Consumer and Financial Service Providers magazines;
• Media interviews;
• Website competition for transition year students;
• Second level educational syllabuses for business;
• Attendance at various financial services functions.
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Meeting of International Network of Financial Services
Ombudsman Schemes
Financial problems and complaints are not unique to Ireland. It is therefore important that each 
Financial Ombudsman has contact with and discuss matters with fellow colleagues. Each year a 
conference is held specifically aimed at Financial Ombudsmen and related consumer and providers. 
Ireland hosted this Annual Conference in Dublin Castle from 24 to 26 June 2009. This was the  
first time Ireland hosted this prestigious conference. 

Reflecting the current economic and financial difficulties being experienced worldwide the  
theme of the conference was “Financial Ombudsmen – Never more needed?” The Ombudsman,  
in his opening remarks stated that the purpose of the conference was to “refocus us all on what we, as 
Ombudsmen, are about and in a sense help to ensure that the role of Financial Services Ombudsmen 
is fully appreciated by all stakeholders.” The conference addressed current problems and consumer 
complaints regarding banking, insurance and investment areas and considered how such issues were 
being addressed by different Financial Services Ombudsman Schemes worldwide. It also considered 
the different regulatory requirements worldwide as well as the efforts being made by financial service 
providers to have contented customers. Of particular interest was how the media viewed our roles and 
whether providers should be “named and shamed”. The developments at EU level were also considered.

The conference was attended by over 150 delegates from Europe, the Americas, Asia, Africa, 
Canada, Australia and New Zealand, indicating the growing network of Financial Ombudsman 
Schemes worldwide. Speakers included members of all the Financial Ombudsman Schemes worldwide, 
the Financial Regulator, academics as well as media and industry representatives. The conference 
was formally opened by the Minister for Finance (Mr. Brian Lenihan, T.D.). The European Union 
Commissioner for the Internal Market and Services (Mr. Charlie McCreevy) spoke on current 
developments at EU level in consumer and financial areas. 

Full details of the presentations are available on our website at www.financialombudsman.ie

Our Staff

Performance Management and Development Systems (PMDS)
The Office introduced PMDS in 2007. This was continued and further developed in 2008  
and 2009. Staff members’ performances for 2009 were reviewed by their managers and suitable 
training and development plans agreed. 

Staff Training
The Office recognises its staff as a key resource and continued to provide training opportunities to 
enable them to further develop their knowledge and skills. The Office encourages and assists staff  
to take advantage of relevant further education at all stages of their career.

Partnership
The Office is committed to Partnership, and the staff involvement approach is one in which staff  
are consulted and involved in the management and development of the Office.
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Finance

Collection of Levies
The legislation under which the Bureau operates provides that levies are payable by Financial Service 
Providers to enable the Bureau carry out its statutory functions. The levy amounts are prescribed by 
the Council with the consent of the Minister for Finance. ¤5,891,522 was collected.

Strategy Implementation
The Strategy Statement and Business Plan 2007-2009 was published in September 2006. Its targets 
and objectives were under constant review and were being implemented in accordance with the targets 
outlined in the Statement. 

Compliance with Legislation
The Office complies with all statutory requirements in the areas of Health and Safety, Equality, 
Parental Leave and in other areas as follows:

Freedom of Information Acts 1997 and 2003
The Freedom of Information Acts will apply to the administration aspects of the Office. 

Ethics in Public Office Acts 1995 and 2001
The Office complies with the provisions of the Acts and to the Standards in Public Office 
Commission’s Guidelines for Office Holders.

Official Languages Act 2003
Standard letters and documents are translated into Irish and the website has an Irish section also. 

Data Protection Acts 1998 and 2003
The Office adheres to the provisions of the Data Protection Acts 1998 and 2003 and will  
constantly review this adherence. Due to the sensitive nature of the information the Office  
receives it is necessary that access to data is available only to those who are involved in the 
investigation of complaints. 

Prompt Payments of Accounts Act 1997
This Office complies with the provision of the Prompt Payments of Accounts Act 1997.  
During 2009 all suppliers were paid on time and no interest was accrued.
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Financial Statements
03

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General for presentation
to the Houses of the Oireachtas
I have audited the financial statements of the Financial Services Ombudsman’s Bureau for the year 
ended 31 December 2009 under the Central Bank Act 1942 as amended by the Central Bank and 
Financial Services Authority of Ireland 2004.

The financial statements, which have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein, 
comprise the Statement of Accounting Policies, the Income and Expenditure Account, Balance Sheet, 
the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes.

Respective Responsibilities of the Ombudsman and the Comptroller 
and Auditor General
The Ombudsman is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the 
Central Bank Act 1942 as amended by the Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland 
Act 2004, and or ensuring the regularity of transactions. The Ombudsman prepares the financial 
statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland. The accounting 
responsibilities of the Ombudsman are set out in the Statement of Responsibilities of the Financial 
Services Ombudsman.

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and 
regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

I report my opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland. I also report whether in my opinion 
proper books of account have been kept. In addition, I state whether the financial statements are in 
agreement with the books of account.

I report any material instance where moneys have not been applied for the purposes intended or 
where the transactions do not conform to the authorities governing them.

I also report if I have not obtained all the information and explanations necessary for the 
purposes of my audit.

I review whether the Statement on Internal Financial Control reflects the Bureau’s compliance 
with the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies and report any material instance 
where it does not do so, or if the statement is misleading or inconsistent with other information of the 
Statement on Internal Financial Control covers all financial risks and controls, or to form an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the risk and control procedures.

I read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider whether it is consistent 
with the audited financial statements. I consider the implications for my report if I become aware of 
any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.
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Basis of Audit Opinion
In the exercise of my function as Comptroller and Auditor General, I conducted my audit of the 
financial statements in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued 
by the Auditing Practices Board and by reference to the special considerations which attach to State 
bodies in relation to the amounts and disclosures and regularity of the financial transactions included 
in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements 
made in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Bureau’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations that I 
considered necessary in order to provide me with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 
irregularity or error. In forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the financial statements.

Without qualifying my opinion I draw attention to note 8 of the financial statements which 
outlines the uncertainty regarding the ultimate financing and recognition of the pension liability.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and view, in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland, of the state of the Bureau’s affairs at 31 December 2009 and of its 
income and expenditure for the year then ended.

In my opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Bureau. The financial statements 
are in agreement with the books of account.

Gerard Smyth
for and on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General

31th May 2010

Statement of Responsibilities of the Financial Services Ombudsman
Sections 57 BP and BQ of the Central Bank Act, 1942 as inserted by Section 16 of the Central Bank 
and Financial Services Authority of Ireland Act, 2004 require the Financial Services Ombudsman to 
prepare financial statements in such form as may be approved by the Financial Services Ombudsman 
Council after consultation with the Minister for Finance. In preparing those financial statements,  
the Ombudsman is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
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• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Bureau will continue in operation.

The Ombudsman is responsible for keeping proper books of account, which disclose in a true and 
fair manner at any time the financial position of the Bureau and which enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with Section 57 BQ of the Act. The Ombudsman is also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Bureau and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

William Prasifka
Financial Services Ombudsman

24th May 2010

Statement on Internal Financial Control
The Financial Services Ombudsman (Ombudsman) acknowledges as Ombudsman that he is 
responsible for the Financial Services Ombudsman’s Bureau (Bureau) system of internal  
financial control.

The Ombudsman also acknowledges that such a system of internal financial control can provide 
only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material error.

The Ombudsman sets out the following key procedures designed to provide effective internal 
financial control within the Bureau:

•  As provided for in Section 54B of the Central Bank Act, 1942 as inserted by Section 16 of 
the Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland Act, 2004 the Ombudsman is 
responsible for carrying on, managing and controlling generally the administration and business 
of the Bureau. The Ombudsman reports to the Financial Services Ombudsman Council 
(Council) at their meetings which are generally held on a bi-monthly basis;

• The Council and the Bureau have adopted and implemented a “Code of Practice for the 
Governance of the Financial Services Ombudsman Bureau” based on the Department of Finance 
“Code of Practice for Governance of State Bodies”;

• The Ombudsman has also put in place a set of Financial Procedures setting out the financial 
instructions, notes of procedures and delegation practices. The Audit Committee reports to the 
Ombudsman and Council. The Committee met on four occasions in 2009. The Ombudsman 
monitors and reviews the efficiency of the system of its internal procedure;

• The work of Internal Audit is informed by the analysis of the risks to which the Bureau is 
exposed and the Internal Audit plan is based on this analysis. Action was taken to ensure that the 
identified potential risks were being managed in an appropriate manner. A detailed internal audit 
programme of work was agreed and completed in 2009.    
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Review of Internal Controls
I have reviewed the internal audit report, the minutes of the audit committee meetings and the 
effectiveness of the system of internal financial controls. Where control deficiencies were highlighted 
these have been addressed.

I also note that an internal audit programme of work has been agreed for 2010 and I will 
implement any necessary improvements to correct any deficiencies it may bring to light.

William Prasifka
Financial Services Ombudsman

24th May 2010

Statement of Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies adopted in these financial statements are as follows:

Basis	of	Accounting
The financial statements are prepared under the accrual method of accounting, except as indicated 
below, and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles under the historical  
cost convention.

Levy	Income	 	 	 	 	 	
Council regulations made under the Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland  
Act, 2004 prescribe the amount to be levied for each category of financial service provider.  
Levy income represents the amounts receivable for each service provider calculated in accordance 
with the regulations and based upon providers identified by the Bureau and information supplied to it. 
Bad debts are written off where deemed irrecoverable.

Expenditure	Recognition	 	 	 	 	 	
Expenditure is recognised in the financial statements on an accruals basis as it is incurred.  

Tangible	Fixed	Assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation, charged to the 
Income and Expenditure Account, is calculated in order to write off the cost of fixed assets over their 
estimated useful lives, under the straight-line method, at the annual rate of 5% per annum for building 
refurbishment, 33 1/3% for computer equipment and 25% for all other assets. A full year’s depreciation 
is charged in the period of the acquisition and none in the year of disposal.

Capital	Account
The Capital Account represents the unamortized value of income used for capital purposes.

Superannuation
For certain staff members the Bureau is in discussion with the Department of Finance regarding  
the future financing and management of a defined benefit superannuation scheme. Pending a decision 
on the matter a provision calculated as a percentage of relevant salaries has been made (see note 8).

Pending finalisation of the proposed pension arrangements, pension and pension lump sums are 
not charged as expenditure but are set against the pension credit balance.
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For other staff members the Bureau makes contributions to a defined contribution scheme.  
(See note 8). These amounts are charged to the Income and Expenditure Account as they fall due.

Income and Expenditure Account
For the year ended 31 December, 2009

notes 2009 2008

¤ ¤

income receivable 2  5,922,820  4,565,662 

transfer (to) / from capital account 3  68,365  37,252 

 5,991,185  4,602,914 

administration costs 4 (5,131,945) (5,143,167) 

surplus / (deficit) for the year  859,240 (540,253) 

balance at 1st january  734,826  1,275,079 

balance at 31st december  1,594,066  734,826 

William Prasifka
Financial Services Ombudsman

24th May 2010

The Bureau has no gains or losses in the Financial Year other than those dealt with in the Income and 
Expenditure Account.

The Statement of Accounting Policies and notes 1 to 12 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Balance Sheet at 31 December 2009

notes 2009 2008

¤ ¤

fixed assets

tangible assets 5 471,158 539,523

471,158 539,523

current assets

bank and cash 359,208 107,924

bank deposit accounts 4,207,715 3,482,324

debtors and prepayments 6 55,558 103,772

4,622,481 3,694,020

creditors (amounts falling due within 1 year)

creditors and accruals 7 3,028,415 2,959,194

3,028,415 2,959,194

net current assets 1,594,066 734,826

creditors (amounts falling due within 1 year) – –

net assets 2,065,224 1,274,349

represented by

capital account 3 471,158 539,523

accumulated surplus at 31 december 1,594,066 734,826

2,065,224 1,274,348

The Statement of Accounting Policies and notes 1 to 12 form an integral part of these  
Financial Statements.

William Prasifka
Financial Services Ombudsman

24th May 2010      
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Cashflow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2009

2009 2008

¤ ¤

Reconciliation of deficit to net cash inflow from operating activities

surplus for the year 859,240 (540,253)

transfer to capital account (68,365) (37,252)

depreciation charge 123,510 131,111

interest (received) (31,299) (98,000)

(increase) / decrease in debtors 48,214 (79,007)

(increase) / decrease in creditors 69,221 1,185,017

net cash inflow from operating activities 1,000,521 561,616

cash flow statement

net cash flow from operating activities 1,000,521 561,616

Return on Investments and Servicing of Finance

interest received 31,299 98,000

interest paid

capital expenditure (55,145) (93,859)

financing

increase in cash 976,675 565,757

reconciliation of net cash flows  
to movement in net funds

increase in cash in the year 976,675 565,757

Changes in net funds resulting from cash flow

net funds at beginning of the year  3,590,248 3,024,491

net funds at the end of the year 4,566,923 3,590,248

The Statement of Accounting Policies and notes 1 to 12 form an integral part of these  
Financial Statements.

William Prasifka
Financial Services Ombudsman

24th May 2010
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Notes
(forming part of the financial statements)

1 Establishment of the Council and Bureau
The Financial Services Ombudsman’s Bureau, established under the Central Bank and Financial 
Services Authority of Ireland Act 2004, is a corporate entity and consists of the Financial 
Services Ombudsman, each Deputy Financial Services Ombudsman and the staff. It is a statutory 
body funded by levies from the financial service providers. The Bureau deals independently with 
complaints from consumers about their individual dealings with financial service providers that 
have not been resolved by the providers.

The Financial Services Ombudsman Council is appointed by the Minister for Finance. 
Its functions as laid down in the Act are to:

• appoint the Ombudsman and the Deputy Ombudsman;
• prescribe guidelines under which the Ombudsman is to operate;
• determine the levies and charges payable for the performance of services provided by  

the Ombudsman;
• approve the annual estimate of income and expenditure as prepared by the Ombudsman;
• keep under review the efficiency and effectiveness of the Bureau and to advise the  

Minister for Finance on any matter relevant to the operation of the Bureau;
• advise the Ombudsman on any matter on which the Ombudsman seeks advice.

The Council has no role whatsoever regarding complaints resolutions.

Council	and	Bureau	Expenses	 	 	 	 	 	
The expenses of the Council are met from Bureau Funds.

2 Income Levy
Section 57 BD of the Central Bank Act, 1942 as inserted by the Central Bank and Financial 
Services Authority of Ireland Act 2004 provides for the payment of an income levy by financial 
service providers to the Bureau on terms determined by the Financial Services Ombudsman’s 
Council. The Central Bank Act 1942 (Financial Services Ombudsman Council) Regulations, 
2008 set the actual rate for the year ending 31 December 2009.

Income for the period is as follows:

2009 2008

¤ ¤

levy 5,891,521 4,357,662

other income 110,000

bank interest 31,299 98,000

total  5,922,820 4,565,662

Interest earned on the pension bank accounts is not treated as Bureau income (see note 8).  
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3 Capital Account

2009 2008

¤ ¤

opening balance  539,523  576,775 

funds allocated to acquire fixed assets  55,145  93,859 

amortisation in line with depreciation (123,510) (131,111) 

transfer from / to  
income and expenditure account (68,365) (37,252) 

balance at 31 december 2009  471,158  539,523 

4 Administration Costs
2009 2008

¤ ¤

salaries and staff costs  2,547,055  1,959,465 

staff pension costs  437,125  464,863 

staff training  21,346  42,779 

bad debt  22,265  3,693 

bad debt provision  23,687  15,311 

council remuneration  100,800  131,333 

council expenses  8,994  23,802 

council legal fees  122,298  50,000 

rent and rates  190,902  212,229 

maintenance  33,348  34,251 

conference and travel  57,395  46,333 

contractors  48,508  34,115 

external investigators  544,075  175,754 

consultancy fees  14,463  97,331 

information activities  86,368  64,682 

cleaning  26,392  21,258 

legal fees  438,552  1,254,945 

insurance  33,241  23,951 

stationery costs  60,007  72,041 

other administration costs  161,991  257,817 

external audit  13,750  13,750 

internal audit  15,873  12,353 

depreciation  123,510  131,111 

total  5,131,945  5,143,167 
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Staff Numbers
The number of persons employed (permanent) as at 31 December 2009 was 27 (29 in 2008).

2009 2008

salaries and staff costs ¤ ¤

ombudsman

salary received in 2009  239,105  219,690 

pension contributions  67,243  65,907 

 306,348  285,597 

deputy ombudsman (retired july 2009)

salary received in 2009  132,079  198,306 

pension contributions  -  40,000 

 132,079  238,306 

deputy ombudsman

salary received in 2009  205,513  198,306 

bik  4,800  5,284 

phi  14,695  14,569 

pension contributions  51,378  49,576 

 276,386  267,735 

Salaries and staff costs include a total of ¤459,386.75 in cessation and ex gratia payments made  
in settlement of disputes with former employees.

Pension Related Deductions
¤98,631.53 pension levy has been deducted from staff members and paid over to the  
Department of Finance.

2009 2008

council member expenses ¤ ¤

travel expenses  6,379  8,470 

meeting expenses  2,615  7,108 

consultancy fees  -  8,224 

 8,994  23,802 
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5 Tangible Fixed Assets

computer 
equipment

 office fitting, 
furniture  

and equipment 
 building 

refurbishment  total 

¤ ¤ ¤ ¤

cost

at 1 january 2009  217,847  174,484  485,000  877,331 

additions during period  44,380  10,765 –  55,145 

at 31 december 2009  262,227  185,249  485,000  932,476 

accumulated depreciation

at 1 january 2009  153,632  111,426  72,750  337,808 

charge for period  57,116  42,144  24,250  123,510 

at 31 december 2009  210,748  153,570  97,000  461,318 

net book value

at 31 december 2009  51,479  31,679  388,000  471,158 

at 31 december 2008  64,215  63,058  412,250  539,523 

6 Prepayments and Accrued Income

2009 2008

¤ ¤

debtors 5,374 3,700

prepayments 50,184 100,072

55,558 103,772 

7 Creditors (amounts falling due within one year)

2009 2008

¤ ¤

trade creditors and accruals 488,002 942,453

pension contributions 2,540,413 2,016,741

3,028,415 2,959,194
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8 Superannuation
In accordance with Section 57BN of the Central Bank Act 1942, as inserted by Section 16 of 
the Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland Act 2004, the Council have 
submitted a pension scheme for the approval of the Minister for Finance and the draft scheme 
is being revised in light of comments made by the Department. The scheme is a contributory 
defined benefit superannuation scheme based on the Department of Finance Model Public 
Sector Scheme. Pending legislative confirmation of the pension finance arrangements, we present 
this information required by FRS 17 by way of a note only. The scheme is being operated on an 
administrative basis with the consent of the Minister.

The Ombudsman proposed to the Department of Finance that the liability for benefits paid 
under the Scheme should be assumed by the State in return for payment annually of a percentage 
of the salaries of scheme members. The Department of Finance then sought advice from the 
Office of the Attorney General on this issue and is satisfied that a legislative amendment will be 
required before it progresses the matter. In view of this requirement the Department proposes 
to introduce a legislative amendment at the next appropriate opportunity. The contributions to 
be paid over to the Exchequer will be at a level where the Exchequer is not exposed to liabilities 
in excess of the revenues accruing over the years to the Exchequer. The Minister reserves the 
right to adjust the rate of contribution in the future in line with future actuarial adjustments 
on costs. The Department of Finance also indicated that this overall approach to funding the 
superannuation scheme is consistent with the principle accepted that the overheads associated 
with establishing a funded scheme is not justified where the number of staff is relatively small.

In addition, staff who transferred from the former Insurance and Credit Institutions 
Ombudsman offices on the date of establishment could opt to continue with their existing 
defined contribution scheme. These schemes, which include life cover benefit, are administered 
by private pension providers. Once employee and employer contributions are paid over the 
Bureau has no further liability. Alternatively, transferred staff could opt to become members 
of the Bureau scheme from the date of transfer. In these cases the Bureau received amounts on 
surrender of the employee’s entitlements under the defined contribution schemes. The amount 
will be used for the purchase of added years under the Bureau scheme in accordance with the 
provisions of Department of Finance Model Public Sector Scheme.

Employee contributions and amounts received in respect of entitlements surrendered by 
transferred employees are retained by the Bureau pending a decision by the Minister for Finance 
as to how the scheme should be managed.

The Pension liability at 31 December 2009 is ¤4,900,000 (¤4,100,000:2008). This is based 
on an actuarial valuation carried out by a qualified independent actuary using the financial 
assumptions below for the purpose of FRS 17 in respect of Bureau staff as at 31 December 2009. 
Under the proposed pension funding arrangements this liability would be reimbursed in full,  
as and when these liabilities fall due for payment.

The main financial assumptions used were:

31 december
2009

31 december
2008

discount rate 5.5% 5.5%

rate of increase in salaries 4.0% 4.0%

rate of increase in pension 4.0% 4.0%

inflation 2.0% 2.0%
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Creditor Pension Account
Pending the introduction of legislation as outlined above, amounts have been held for pay over to 
the Department of Finance and are analysed as follows.

2009 2008

¤ ¤

opening balance  2,016,741  1,429,980 

employee contributions  151,864  143,377 

employer contributions  421,925  388,806 

bank interest (pension account)  46,993  54,578 

less: pensions paid (97,110) –

 2,540,413  2,016,741 

9 Financial Commitments
There are no capital commitments for capital expenditure at 31 December 2009.

10 Contingent Liabilities / Legal Actions
During 2008 an appeal to the Supreme Court was made by a Financial Service Provider against a 
High Court judgement which considered matters following a decision made by the Ombudsman. 
The Ombudsman is defending this action and is awaiting a date for the Supreme Court hearing. 
There has been no change regarding this matter during 2009. The Ombudsman also appealled to 
the Supreme Court in another case and a Supreme Court Judgement is awaited. There are other 
normal appeals before the High Court which the Ombudsman is also defending. No provision, 
other than the costs incurred by the Bureau, has been made in the Financial Statements as the 
financial consequences of the litigation, if any, can not be determined at this stage.

11 Council Members – disclosure of interests
The Council adopted procedures in accordance with guidelines issued by the Department of 
Finance in relation to disclosure of interests by Council members and these procedures have 
been adhered to in the period. There were no transactions in the year in relation to the Council’s 
activities in which the Council members had any beneficial interest. 

12 Approval of Financial Statements
The Financial Statements were approved by the Financial Services Ombudsman on  
24th May 2010.
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Case Studies
04

¤345,000 to be returned to two elderly investors
A couple in their 70s had their life savings on deposit but were approached by their Bank in late 
2005 and advised that they would get a much better return if they took the money off deposit and 
invested in a Managed Fund instead. After a short discussion they agreed to do this and in early 2006 
they invested ¤345,000 in these Funds. In July 2008, the Complainants were again contacted by the 
Bank and advised to switch the investment into cash as the Fund was losing heavily in value. The 
Complainants were very concerned about this and met with the manager of the local branch. They 
stated that it was only at this meeting that the investment was explained to them in detail and it was 
the first time that they fully understood how the investment functioned. It was only at this stage that 
the Complainants claimed they were informed that 70% of the investment, ¤245, 000, was based on 
the performance of the stock market. The Complainants claimed that they had never been told this 
before and that they would not have entered into an investment that was based on the stock market 
performance. By then in 2008 the ¤345,000 investments were worth only ¤265,000, invested funds 
of ¤240,000 (then valued ¤170,000) could not be withdrawn for at least six months and an early 
encashment penalty of ¤9,000 would also arise. The money had been mainly invested in an Irish 
Property Fund for a period of 5 years and 9 months. They complained to the Ombudsman that the 
investment was unsuitable for them.

The Ombudsman had to consider whether the recommended investments were appropriate or not. 
He noted that the investors were in their 70s; the husband was retired and had no pension; he suffered 
from heart disease (from which condition all five of his brothers had died) and was a diabetic. This 
personal and individual history had been pointed out to the Bank’s representatives according to the 
Complainants, and though the Bank denied it was aware of the specifics of the Complainant’s illness  
it accepted that its sales representative had been given basic information about the health issues. 

Having regard to these circumstances and to the fact that the introduction to these products 
was at the instigation and initiative of the Bank and that the sales pitch and financial review had 
been carried out at the home of the Complainants, the Ombudsman found that the Bank had 
not exercised appropriate care and caution in dealing with the Complainants, given their age, 
investment inexperience, previous investment profile and the health of the husband. It was clear to 
the Ombudsman that the Complainants had misunderstood the issue of risk and the nature of the 
investment. He also found that the Bank, in recommending and rushing through these investments 
with an unacceptable degree of haste, had failed in its duty of care to these customers. 

The Ombudsman directed that the full amount of money paid for the investments, ¤345,000, 
should be paid back to the Complainants in return for the surrender of the investments to the Bank.
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¤300,000 six year bond should not have been sold to 84/5 year old couple
A widow complained that she and her late husband had been mis-sold a Capital Protected Bond by a 
financial provider in December 2006. The Complainant and her late husband were 84 and 85 years of 
age respectively at the time, and were living with their son and his wife. A considerable sum of money 
was invested, some ¤300,000, which the Complainant indicated was from the proceeds of the sale of 
their house. The investment in the Bond had a term of six years and the Complainant and her husband 
could not access the funds invested before the age of 90/91 without incurring large penalties though 
they would get an annual income. 

Sadly, the Complainant’s husband passed away within 18 months of making the investment. As the 
Bond contained a provision that any death claim would be paid out only on the death of the surviving 
investor, sole ownership of the Bond transferred to the Complainant as surviving investor. On making 
the complaint in September 2008, the Complainant, now aged 87, had taken up full time residence in 
a private nursing home. Though the Bond had a capital protection value of ¤283,000 at January 2013 
nevertheless if the Bond was cashed in August 2008 the surrender value was ¤248,000 with an early 
cashing in penalty of ¤10,000. This value was falling each day however.

In defending the investment advice the provider submitted considerable documentation to 
establish that the Complainant and her husband fully understood their investment in the Bond, 
including reference to a ¤100,000 deposit account which should cover their emergency needs as well 
as a monthly pension of ¤2,000. Also another open ended unprotected capital investment bond of 
¤265,000, cashable without penalty and with an annual income, had been taken out with the same 
provider in 2004/5 - there was no complaint about that bond. The Ombudsman noted that while their 
son was present at the meetings in 2004/5 the provider stated that the couple declined its request to 
have the son present at the December 2006 meeting. However, what concerned the Ombudsman 
was not the Complainant’s and her husband’s understanding of the type of investment involved, 
although that was significant, but rather the suitability of this investment for them at the time of 
investment meetings in 2006, i.e. had the Provider adequately considered and discussed with the 
Complainant and her husband the suitability of the product, taking into account their life expectancy, 
circumstances and particular financial needs.

The Provider submitted a copy of the Personal Finance Review carried out with the Complainant 
and her husband in December 2006, purporting to contain details of their existing financial 
arrangements, agreed investment action to be taken, and a summary explaining the recommendations 
made. The stated purpose of this review was “to	review	your	current	financial	arrangements	and	to	analyse	
your	other	financial	needs”. Upon examination the Ombudsman was struck by how little information was 
contained within this Personal Finance Review document. There was no mention of the customers’ age 
profile, other than to state that both were “retired”. There was no analysis of the customers’ attitude to 
risk or the need to provide for future health care needs such as nursing home care. While the Provider 
maintained that the financial adviser had been “very careful” to ensure that the Complainant and her 
husband were adequately provided for in this regard, the possible financial provision for nursing home 
care received no mention whatever in the Personal Financial Review report. 

The Ombudsman accepted that the Complainant and her late husband were provided with 
detailed information on the working of the Bond, the risks involved, and the long term nature of 
the investment. While he also accepted that they signed the application form, however, in all good 
conscience he could not accept that the investment was suitable in their circumstances. Furthermore, 
the evidence did not support the Provider’s contention that adequate consideration and discussion 
had taken place with regard to the age of the Complainant and her husband, the very real possibility 
that they would not see out the term of the investment, or the overriding requirement that they make 
adequate financial provision for potential long term health care costs. In short, he was of the view 
that recommending an investment product with a term of six years as well as hefty penalties for early 
encashment to an elderly couple of 85 and 84 years was a dereliction in the Provider’s duty of care.  
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In effect, this Bond should not have been sold to the Complainant and her husband.
Accordingly, he directed that the financial provider should buy back the Bond for the original 

investment amount of ¤300,000 and pay such value to the Complainant less any income received 
from the Bond to date. He also considered that an additional sum of ¤5,000 should be paid to the 
Complainant as compensation for the mis-sale.

¤90,000 for not clearly explaining the downsides of a geared 
property fund
A husband and wife who invested ¤150,000 in a Unit Linked Fund found that after three years  
their investment was worth less than ¤40,000. The Fund was a UK Property Fund.

The Complainants alleged that the investment was inherently unsuitable for their needs in  
that they had specified a low-medium risk. The Ombudsman found that the investment was not in 
itself unsuitable. However, the reason for the disastrous fall in the value of the investment was that  
the money was invested in a Geared Property Fund where the property which had been purchased  
by the Fund had been funded using 75% of Bank borrowings and only 25% of investors’ equity.  
The effect of this ‘gearing’ was that if the value of the property increased, it would be advantageous 
to the investor. However, if the value of the property was to fall this would have a disproportionate 
and disastrous effect on the value of the investor funds. This is what happened. The Complainants 
alleged that they had had no idea what ‘gearing’ meant in this context and that the Bank should have 
informed them of ‘gearing’. The Bank stated in its defence that these customers had been properly 
informed at two meetings which had taken place between officials of the Bank and the customers. 
The Complainants denied this. 

There being a total conflict on the written evidence as to what was said at the meetings in 
question, the Ombudsman decided that an Oral Hearing was required in order to resolve the  
conflict of fact which had arisen. At the Oral Hearing, both parties were represented by counsel and 
evidence on oath was given by all the parties present at the meetings and they were cross-examined  
on their evidence.

Having reviewed the Oral Hearing evidence and taken all the written submissions into account, 
the Ombudsman concluded that the crucial question in the case was whether the Bank had wrongfully 
failed to disclose risks associated with the geared nature of the Fund to the Complainants at the 
moment of sale. After considering all the evidence, especially the evidence given at the Oral Hearing, 
the Ombudsman said that “ it	was	perfectly	obvious	that	whereas	recourse	borrowing	had	been	explained	in	
some	detail,	the	implication	of	‘gearing’	to	this	investment	was	not	explained	at	all”. ‘Gearing’ in this context 
means that with a decline in the value of the property, the value of the investment will fall further  
and faster than the market value of the property itself. If there had been no ‘gearing’ then the fall in  
the value of the investment would be the same as the fall in the value of the property itself. However, 
he found that this complicated method of financing this particular investment had not been explained 
to the Complainants and he was satisfied from the oral evidence that if it had been pointed out in  
such stark detail, which it should have been, then the Complainants would not have invested in this 
product at all. 

However, in apportioning blame, the Ombudsman also referred to the brochure which had said 
“‘gearing’	by	its	nature	may	increase	the	potential	returns	from	an	investment	such	as	this	but	it	also	increases	the	
risk	associated	with	the	investment	and	in	a	worst	case	scenario,	investors	could	lose	all	of	their	investment”.

The Ombudsman felt that the Complainants (who had had the general summary of the brochure) 
had not read into the brochure in detail and beyond the general summary and if they had, prudent 
investors would have come across this passage and it may have affected their decision. 
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Nevertheless, the Ombudsman was satisfied that the greater onus is on a Bank when advising 
clients and Bank advisors need to be clear and straightforward in explaining every nuance of an 
investment policy to people who are going to invest their money. Accordingly, the Ombudsman found, 
on the balance of probabilities, that had there been an explicit verbal discussion of the downside risks 
associated with ‘gearing’, the Complainants would not have proceeded with their investment in this 
Fund. However, the Complainants, for the reasons stated above, had to carry some of the blame for 
the loss that had been incurred because they did not read the brochure in great detail, this being a 
contributory factor in mitigating the loss. The Ombudsman assessed this at 40%.

The Ombudsman therefore directed that the couple should surrender the Bond to the Bank after 
¤90,000 in compensation for the breach of duty which occurred was paid.

Conflict of interest not disclosed merits ¤53,000 award
A couple had ¤100,000 to invest and sought investment advice from a broker. It recommended 
investing in a property scheme of apartments in the United Kingdom. The Complainants alleged that 
they were advised that they would not actually have to buy the property but that it would be sold on or  
“ flipped	over” within 12-18 months. The Complainants indicated that they wanted to have their own 
solicitor but the Broker said that they would have to use a particular firm of solicitors in the UK.  
They went ahead. They invested ¤53,000. The Complainants signed what was called a “Pre-Contract” 
and they alleged they were told it was not a binding contract although it turned out to be so.

A year later they learned that the sale of the apartments had fallen through and they lost ¤53,000. 
The Complainants then learned that the Broker had got a commission from the developer of 50% of 
the deposit which they had paid.

As a result of the Ombudsman’s investigation he was satisfied that the Broker had a clear conflict 
of interest which he had not disclosed to the Complainants in that he was promoting the development 
himself and had an interest in doing so. The conflict of interest should have been disclosed to the 
Complainants and it was not. Furthermore, the Complainants should not have been discouraged from 
having their own solicitor. The Ombudsman found that the Broker had misrepresented the nature 
of the documents which the Complainants had signed and he directed that the broker should pay 
¤53,000 to the Complainants. He also reported the case to the Financial Regulator as this was one  
of a number of complaints of this type that he had received.

¤7,500 award to widower told in error on four occasions of
¤130,000 death benefit payout
Two years after a married couple commenced a policy of life assurance, sadly, the wife died.  
The following year, enquiries were made by the husband’s sister in relation to benefit payable and  
the Company reverted indicating that ¤130,000 was payable to the husband, upon his wife’s death. 
This information was subsequently reiterated by the Company and then confirmed again to the 
husband in person when he attended at a meeting. Subsequently however, the Company wrote 
indicating that the deceased had not in fact been insured on the policy, and the husband had been 
given incorrect information, owing to a training error. The husband was very upset that he had been 
told by the Company on at least four occasions that benefit of ¤130,000 was payable to him on his 
wife’s death. On the strength of that information he had taken time off work to attend meetings,  
in order to re-arrange his financial affairs.

Investigation of the matter by the Ombudsman revealed that at the time when the policy 
commenced, it was only the husband’s life which was covered by the policy, and that the couple 
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had been informed by the Company when the policy was incepted, that the wife’s life would not be 
covered, owing to existing medical issues. Policy documentation had issued to the husband and wife 
confirming this, and indeed this had also been clear from the annual benefit statements issued by  
the Company.

The Company noted, with regret, the error made in giving incorrect information to the 
deceased’s husband, following her death, arising it seems from an error on the part of a staff member, 
who had interpreted joint policy holders to mean joint lives assured. The Company advised that  
steps had been taken to ensure that no similar error would occur again, including the re-training of  
a number of staff members.

The Ombudsman noted that for a period of over a month, the deceased’s husband, who had a 
young family to provide for, had been given to believe by the Company that he would be issued with a 
benefit payment of ¤130,000, following the loss of his wife. He had taken time off work to re-arrange 
his financial affairs, and was clearly therefore very distressed when he was subsequently advised that 
in fact no benefit was payable. The Ombudsman found it assuring that the Company had taken steps 
to re-train staff where appropriate, in order to avoid a similar situation arising again. 

However, the Ombudsman considered that the goodwill gesture of ¤1,000 which the  
Company had previously offered to the deceased’s husband, in recognition of the distress caused 
(subsequently increased to ¤1,500) was totally inadequate and he directed the Company to increase it 
to ¤7,500 instead.

¤116,000 refund to elderly investors as ten year bond was sold
rather than a five year one
In December 2006, an elderly couple invested ¤560,000 in a 10 year Bond upon the advice of an 
Intermediary. The Bond was surrendered for ¤445,000 in September 2008 at a considerable loss 
owing to an early exit fee and an additional deduction of ¤116,000 for “Market	Value	Adjustment” 
(MVA). The Complainants were unhappy with the imposition of the MVA which they considered 
penal, as they had been unaware of the potential extent of the MVA and had not realised that it could 
apply at any time during the term of the investment. They indicated that they had believed that 
penalties for encashment would only apply within the first 5 years of the investment and pointed out 
that they had never wished to invest in a 10 year policy. 

A complaint was made against the Intermediary which had recommended the policy to the 
Complainants. The Intermediary referred to the Recommendation Document indicating that the 
Bond should be viewed as a 7-10 year investment. It also relied on the clear explanation in the  
“Terms	Explained” which made it clear that the MVA was relevant to the investment if a decision was 
made to surrender the investment before or after the 10th policy anniversary. The Intermediary 
pointed out that references to the MVA were highlighted in bold type, to indicate its significance  
and that it had been made clear to the Complainants that it was not possible to quantify the MVA  
in advance. It also stated that the Complainants had signed an explicit statement that they would not 
encash the Bond while an MVA was in place.

The Ombudsman took the view that the Key Features Document, Reasons Why Letter and  
the Intermediary’s Recommendation Document clearly explained how the MVA would operate.  
He also noted that the Intermediary’s representative had explained the impact of the MVA by means 
of graphs and examples. He therefore found that the MVA applicable to an investment had been 
properly explained to the Complainants.

Nevertheless the Ombudsman noted that at the time of the parties’ discussions, the Complainants 
had indicated a clear investment goal to invest for a period of 5 years and the timeframe for their 
investment was described as “a	5	year	view” and also “5-6	year	view”. The Ombudsman noted that 
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although any early exit fees would not apply after the 5th anniversary of the investment,  
nevertheless it was clear that the operation of an MVA might well apply at the very least, up to  
the 10th anniversary of the policy. In light of this, he failed to see how this product was suitable for 
elderly persons who only wanted a 5-6 year view. In effect a ten year Bond was sold and not a five year 
one as desired.

Accordingly, although the Ombudsman was satisfied that the MVA was adequately explained,  
this was not an appropriate product for the Complainants. He directed that the Intermediary 
reimburse the Complainants the 20% MVA of the fund value which had been deducted upon 
encashment in September 2008 – ¤116,000.

Alleged ¤1m inappropriate investments by elderly person not upheld
An elderly man in his early eighties complained that he had made two very substantial lump sum 
investments totalling ¤1m upon the recommendation of an Investment Bank in 2006 and 2007 
respectively, but he had only later discovered that these investments did not provide the capital 
guarantee he had always said he wanted. The Complainant indicated that his wife’s health was 
very poor, he himself was suffering from failing eyesight and therefore he had put his trust in the 
Company’s recommendations. The investments had since fallen considerably in value and he wanted 
to be reimbursed the ¤1m.

The Bank maintained that the investment options selected by the Complainant had been fully 
explained and clarified with him in 2006 and 2007 respectively, and that he had fully understood the 
nature of the investments undertaken. The Bank said that the Complainant was a very experienced 
investor with significant financial acumen, who had a varied investment portfolio of guaranteed and 
non guaranteed items, but nevertheless because the Complainant was 80 years old in 2006, additional 
precautions had been taken (as required by its quality procedures) to ensure that the investments 
being incepted were suitable to the Complainant and that he understood the risk being undertaken. 
The Bank also said that the Complainant had decided against a secure investment as he wanted the 
flexibility of being able to access his funds, if required and was of sufficient financial net worth, in 
order for the investment to proceed.

The Ombudsman noted that the two investments, whilst very substantial, nevertheless left the 
Complainant with very considerable other cash assets available to him. He also accepted that he was 
an experienced investor and noted that Bank had been aware of the Complainant’s wife’s medical 
circumstances and, in fact, because of this, the Complainant had transferred by agreement other 
investments in their joint names, into his sole name in 2006.

The Ombudsman noted the Complainant’s failing eyesight, but pointed to the Complainant’s 
own evidence that in 2006 and 2007, he had “signed	everything	put	in	front	of	him” not because of any 
issue with his eyesight, but rather, because he said he had complete trust in the Company. Insofar 
as the Complainant made the case that he had only ever wanted a “safe” investment for his monies, 
the Ombudsman noted that the Application Form stated on the front page in bold lettering that the 
investments “can go down as well as up and are not guaranteed, so you may not get back the full amount 
you invested”. The Ombudsman also noted the additional steps taken by the Bank, because of the 
Complainant’s age, to ensure that he fully understood the nature of the investment being commenced. 
In that regard, the evidence showed interalia that in November 2006 the Complainant had signed 
his own additional handwritten note confirming his acceptance that his capital was not secure, and 
that the sum invested could fall as well as rise. A similar handwritten note had been signed by the 
Complainant in May 2007 incorporating a statement that “I	am	aware	that	the	capital	invested	¤….,	
is	not	secure,	and	can	fall	as	well	as	rise”.
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The Ombudsman stated that in circumstances where the parties had been in dispute in respect 
of a number of facts, he had given consideration to whether a sworn oral hearing would be necessary. 
He had determined however that the documentary evidence and submissions available were in fact 
sufficient to enable him to reach a decision in relation to the case. 

The Ombudsman found that the Complainant could not but have been aware in November 2006 
and May 2007, that the capital being invested was in no way guaranteed, and that it could fall in value, 
as well as rise. The Complainant’s suggestion that he had always wanted a “safe” investment was 
simply not borne out by the evidence. The Ombudsman also considered it highly unlikely that  
the Complainant had simply signed everything put in front of him and that he had not read any of  
the documentation he had received in relation to these very substantial investments particularly  
as he was an experienced investor. The complaint against the Bank was not upheld.

High Risk Property Fund Investment of ¤75,000 was unsuitable –
¤60,000 compensation
Concerns by a husband and wife who took out three investments through a Bank were raised with the 
Ombudsman. The Complainants invested proceeds from the sale of land, of ¤86,000 in June 2006, 
¤100,000 in March 2007 and ¤75,000 in April 2007 respectively in three different property funds as 
a means of increasing their income when they retired from their other employments some years later. 
All three investments had substantially decreased in value by September 2008. 

The Ombudsman found that the Complainants were appropriately advised in relation to the  
first two investments and had received the necessary documentation and cooling off periods for  
these investments. 

However, the Ombudsman had a serious issue with the third investment in April 2007. He noted 
that this investment was advised by a different Financial Consultant of the Bank to the two previous 
investments. This fact find noted the Complainants as not being “savvy	investors” and were “getting	
cold	feet” about this investment. It also noted that the Complainants were unsure of the terms and 
conditions of this proposed investment and didn’t understand them. The Consultant however advised 
the Complainants to invest ¤75,000 in this high risk property fund which they did. 

The Ombudsman concluded that the Bank should not have recommended such a high risk 
investment, taking into consideration the Complainants obvious concerns over taking out a 
third property fund investment. In making his decision the Ombudsman could not find fully in 
favour of the Complainants as he was mindful of the fact that they had already made their second 
investment just three weeks previous with the Bank. He also took into consideration the fact that 
the Complainants did receive a suitability letter, had a cooling off period which gave them the 
opportunity of withdrawing from the investment if they felt it was not reflective of their needs and 
could not but be aware of some investment risks. 

The Ombudsman accordingly directed the Bank to buy back this bond at 80% of its  
value – ¤60,000.

Unsolicited approach to old age pensioner to change a ¤35,000
investment – ¤6,500 award
A 71 year old age pensioner who invested ¤35,000 in an investment portfolio in June 2006 complained 
to the Ombudsman in September 2008 that he had been sold a 5 year product which was unsuitable 
for him, its value was falling by February 2008 and it did not have a fixed rate of return. His money 
had been originally invested in another investment with a fixed rate of return and he had changed his 
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investment on foot of an unsolicited telephone call from his Bank. He also stated that the Bank was 
very slow in dealing with his complaint.

The Bank stated in evidence that the official who had conducted the transaction had since left 
the Bank but that where a new product was being launched it would not have been unusual to bring 
the advantages of such a product to the attention of existing customers where it might be to their 
advantage. At the time the investment was sold it offered unlimited growth potential with capital 
guaranteed. The Bank asserted that while it understood that the Complainant had been unhappy  
with the performance of the investment to date the final growth would not be known until the 
maturity date. There were 3 years of the 5 year investment term to run and there was the possibility 
that market conditions may improve before the end of the term. 

On reviewing the totality of the evidence, the Ombudsman was satisfied that it was the Bank 
which had made what was a completely unsolicited approach to the customer asking him to call at 
the branch so that he could be sold a new and different investment. The Ombudsman found that the 
pensioner should not have been targeted in this way, that the Bank had not given good advice and 
should not have sold this particular investment to the pensioner, having regard to his age and financial 
circumstances. The Ombudsman found that the Bank had failed in its duty of care and he directed 
the Bank to pay a sum of ¤6,500 in compensation for the negligent advice given.

¤3,000 insurance fund increase for reviews not carried out –
possible 96,000 other cases
The Complainant purchased a unit-linked, whole of life insurance policy with the Company in 1983. 
Life cover under the policy was approximately ¤240,000, with a yearly premium payable of ¤900. 
Her policy included a ‘policy	review’ provision which provided for the review of the premium and 
benefit payable under the policy at stated intervals. 

A review was carried out on the 10th anniversary of the policy. The Company advised the 
Complainant at the time that there was no need for her to change the premium payable in order 
to maintain benefits under the policy. However, in 2008 the Company wrote to the Complainant 
advising her that the premium payable was no longer sufficient to maintain the level of cover under 
the policy. The Company advised the Complainant that she could continue to pay annual premium of 
¤900 for life cover of ¤85,000 or maintain life cover of ¤240,000 for an increased annual premium  
of ¤4,900. The Complainant was shocked at the requested increase in premium and referred the 
matter to this Office. 

In assessing the complaint the Ombudsman looked at the policy documentation and examined 
whether the Company had carried out the policy review in line with the policy’s terms. The 
Ombudsman concluded that the Company was entitled to carry out policy reviews and these were 
clearly provided for under the policy documentation. However, the Ombudsman noted that while  
the Company carried out a review on the 10th anniversary, it failed to carry out reviews in 1998 and 
2003. The Ombudsman found that reviews should have been carried out at these times and by not 
doing so, the Complainant did not have the opportunity to consider her life cover options at an  
earlier date than 2008.

The Ombudsman directed the Company to increase the value of the Complainant’s fund by 
¤3,000 and to carry out a review based on this increased value. 

The Ombudsman had serious concerns that this failure may have occurred in other instances and 
he informed the Company and the Financial Regulator in March 2009 that he would expect similar 
policies be reviewed to ensure that this was not the case. Due to a High Court judgment he could 
not direct the Company to do so and he was accordingly pleased to note the May 2009 Company’s 
response. It indicated that to identify if each policy had all relevant reviews carried out would involve 
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manually checking 96,000 policies which would be an inordinate amount of work. Instead it proposed 
to carry out a sample review in the region of 160 policies and the results of same would be furnished 
to the Ombudsman. While the Ombudsman was satisfied with this approach he requested that the 
random sample be increased to 300 and he awaits its outcome.

Benefit of ¤25,000 paid to blind person as Company’s actions were unfair
A woman in her 50s held a critical illness policy with an Insurance Company and submitted a claim 
for benefit arising from her loss of sight. The Company declined the claim on the basis that the 
Complainant did not meet the criteria set out in the policy of “total,	permanent	and	irreversible	loss	of	
all	vision	in	both	eyes”. The Complainant had suffered for many years with a rare debilitating disease 
categorised by the fragmentation of elastic fibres in the skin and the membranes of the eyes. The 
particular disease from which the Complainant suffered was not covered by the policy but the 
Complainant sought to qualify under the heading of “Blindness”. 

The Ombudsman considered the medical evidence available which confirmed that prior to the 
inception of the policy the Complainant had suffered from tired eyes and eye strain as a result of 
which she had been referred to a Consultant Ophthalmic Surgeon. The policy had commenced in 
1994 and the medical evidence disclosed a marked deterioration in the Complainant’s vision during 
the late 1990s ultimately leading to the Complainant’s claim to the Company in September 2006 on 
the basis that she had then become blind.

The Ombudsman noted that in considering the Complainant’s claim, her Ophthalmic 
Surgeon had been required to complete an assessment and had been specifically asked whether 
the Complainant had permanently and irreversibly lost the sight in both eyes and when this had 
occurred. The Surgeon’s response had been “yes” and he had confirmed that visual acuity had dropped 
to the level outlined by September 2004. He also confirmed that there was no prospect of vision 
improvement by way of surgery. In those circumstances the Ombudsman took the view that it was 
inappropriate for the Company to have refused the Complainant’s claim on the basis that she did  
not meet the criteria set down in the policy. 

The Ombudsman noted that it was a full two years after the Complainant’s claim had been 
refused, that the Complainant’s Consultant Ophthalmologist, upon being pressed, had confirmed 
that the Complainant had a level of peripheral vision and that, in that sense, her loss of sight was not 
“total”. In circumstances where the policy document contained no reference to the exclusion of claims 
for benefit, where peripheral vision was noted to exist, the Ombudsman took the view that the opinion 
of the Surgeon in October 2006 that the Complainant had permanently and irreversibly lost the sight 
in both eyes, was sufficiently clear in respect of the position and the Company ought to have admitted 
the Complainant’s claim at that juncture.

The Ombudsman also noted that it was not open to the Company to decline the claim on the 
basis that the Complainant’s condition pre-existed the inception of the policy as the policy set out the 
limits of the pre-existing conditions relevant to loss of sight and the Complainant had not suffered 
from any of the pre-existing conditions identified in the policy, nor had she become blind within the 
first two years of cover.

The Ombudsman upheld the Complainant’s grievance and directed payment of the lump sum 
benefit of ¤25,000 pursuant to the critical illness policy.
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¤25,000 to be paid as cause of death insurance benefit condition
was inequitable
A woman living in rural Ireland complained to the Ombudsman in relation to her 71 year old 
husband’s Accidental Death Benefit Policy. Her husband had suffered a serious fall giving rise to  
a fracture of the pelvis and, notwithstanding hospitalisation, died within a period of 3 weeks.  
The Insurance Company had nevertheless refused her claim for benefit, on the basis that the Policy 
criteria required that for benefit to be payable, the “sole” cause of the policyholder’s death must have 
been bodily injury, as defined. The Company pointed out that the deceased had suffered from 
Parkinson’s disease and Dementia, and the death certificate confirmed the primary cause of death  
as a heart attack. 

The Ombudsman noted the evidence from the deceased’s GP that prior to the deceased’s fall,  
he had been in relatively good health, although being frail, but the immobilisation caused by the 
fracture of the pelvis had resulted in his confinement in a hospital bed. His dementia and confinement 
in unfamiliar surroundings caused him considerable disorientation and distress resulting in him being 
unable to eat. This led to a rapid decline in his health three weeks after being hospitalised to treat the 
broken pelvic bone and he had suffered a heart attack and died.

The Ombudsman considered that the policy wording requiring that the “sole” cause of death be 
the bodily injury, was unduly narrow and unworkable on a practical level, and indeed was likely to 
cause unfairness to policyholders. This likelihood of unfairness in his opinion was compounded in 
this particular case, by the age and frailty of the policyholder. The Ombudsman noted that serious 
fractures in geriatric patients are accepted by the medical profession as carrying a very substantial risk 
of increased morbidity and indeed mortality. The Ombudsman opined that the strict application of a 
criterion for the “sole” cause of death to be the bodily injury alone would be likely to cause considerable 
inequity in the particular circumstances of the case.

The Ombudsman accordingly directed the Company to admit the Complainant’s claim for 
¤25,000 and he also directed the Company to examine the issue of the very strict policy wording, 
with a view to amending it in order to reduce the risk of unfairness to policyholders. He also brought 
this matter to the attention of the Financial Regulator as it may apply to other insurance industry 
policy providers also.

Cardiac Surgery costs of ¤15,000 repaid as pre-existing medical
condition did not arise
A health insurance Provider had declined the Complainant’s claim for medical expenses incurred 
on three occasions for cardiac surgery in the Blackrock Clinic in early 2008 on the grounds that his 
symptoms were present prior to his joining the health insurance scheme. The Complainant disputed 
the Provider’s decision on the grounds that he had telephoned the Provider prior to each surgery 
to confirm that he would be fully covered and proceeded with the surgery on this basis. He further 
stated that he did not have any symptoms of coronary disease prior to joining the Scheme.

The Ombudsman found that the rules of the Health Insurance Scheme in dispute were clear.  
The Company would not pay benefits for treatment which a person required during any waiting 
period that applied under their scheme. Under the terms of the Complainant’s scheme, waiting 
periods applied to all new joiners and, in the Complainant’s case, a pre-existing waiting period of  
10 years applied. This was clearly explained in the policy booklet and also in the policy brochure.  
The policy terms and conditions defined a pre-existing condition as:
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“Any	disease,	illness	or	injury	which	began,	or	the	symptoms	of	which	began,	before	the	person	with	the	
disease,	illness	or	injury	started	his	or	her	current	continuous	period	of	membership	of	the	scheme.”

Mindful of the Complainant’s allegations regarding advice received from the Provider over the 
telephone, the Ombudsman examined the Provider’s customer log recording the content of telephone 
calls between the Complainant and a customer representative of the Provider in early 2008. He 
was satisfied that these records showed that the Complainant was properly advised by the Provider 
and that it was explained to the Complainant on two occasions that if the symptoms of the medical 
condition being treated arose before membership of the Scheme, that condition would not be covered 
under the policy.

The question which then remained to be decided by the Ombudsman was whether or not the 
Provider had correctly assessed the Complainant’s claims as relating to a medical condition the 
symptoms of which pre-dated his joining the Health Insurance Scheme in question. It was clear 
that the Claim Forms submitted and signed by the Complainant’s Consultant gave no indication 
that the symptoms of the condition being treated pre-dated the Complainant’s membership of the 
Scheme, and indeed stated that they did not. The Complainants GP had confirmed in writing that 
the information he had provided, and upon which the Provider had based its decision to decline 
the Complainant’s claims, had been in error and without reference to his medical notes. He later 
confirmed that the Complainant had not attended him with chest problems until a date after joining 
the Provider’s Health Insurance Scheme, and he appended full medical notes dating back to 2004 
in support of this. It was also clear that while the hospital records submitted contained a note that 
the Complainant was receiving a drug to reduce blood cholesterol in December 2005, there was no 
suggestion that this drug had been administered to the Complainant for the treatment of coronary 
arteriosclerosis, as contended by the Provider.

It was therefore questionable whether, irrespective of the date the symptoms began, the coronary 
disease with which the Complainant suffered, and for which he required surgical intervention some 
four months after his date of membership, had begun prior to the date of membership. However, 
having considered all the submissions, the Ombudsman was satisfied on the balance of the evidence 
before him that the symptoms of the Complainant’s condition did not pre-date his membership of  
the Provider’s health insurance scheme. He accordingly directed that the costs of ¤15,000 be borne by 
the health insurance provider.

Benefit of doubt in complaint regarding ¤18,000 disability payment
The Ombudsman examined a case where the Company admitted liability in respect of the 
Complainant’s disability claim with effect from 2005. As part of the regular review of the claim,  
the Company sought a number of medical reports and following examination of these reports  
the Company ceased payment of ¤18,000 in 2008. The Complainant appealed this decision.

In order to be eligible for benefit the Complainant had to demonstrate she was “totally	incapable	
by	reason	of	illness	or	injury	of	following	her	normal	occupation”. The Complainant argued that she was 
physically totally incapable of carrying out her job.  In particular, the Complainant pointed to  
the fact that she had a metastatic cancer lesion and stated the psychological aspects of her condition, 
with their attendant debilitating effects rendered her totally incapable of working.

The Ombudsman noted that her employer’s doctor retired her on the grounds of ill health in 
June 2008. Following the Complainant’s appeal, the Company arranged for a number of medical 
assessments for the Complainant with inter-alia, an oncologist, an occupational physician and a 
psychiatrist. The Complainant submitted a number of her own medical reports supporting her 
position. The Company on receipt of all these reports did not change their position regarding the 
declinature of the claim.
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The Ombudsman ex amined all the reports and took note of the comments regarding  
metastatic disease which stated “the	behaviour	of	which	is	unpredictable” and other medical evidence 
which stated ‘‘the	Complainant	is	now	well	established	in	the	‘sick	role’	and	she	cannot	countenance	a	
return	to	work”	.

The Ombudsman took into account the conflicting medical evidence and he considered that  
the benefit of the doubt should apply in this case. He directed that the claim should be paid subject  
to an annual review thereafter.

Allegation of ¤540 Credit Card fraud in Thailand was upheld
A Complainant who went on a trip to Thailand found when she came back that three transactions  
had been deducted from her Card, transactions which she claimed she had not incurred and which  
she claimed were unauthorised.

In response to the complaint, the Bank carried out a comprehensive investigation into the disputed 
transactions, during which it looked at previous fraudulent activity in the geographic region in question 
in order to ascertain whether there were any fraudulent patterns in these transactions. The Bank’s 
investigation concluded that no fraudulent activity was present on the account. This conclusion was 
arrived at due to the sporadic nature of the transactions over the course of a month and the pattern of 
the said transactions. The Bank pointed out that the disputed transactions were PIN verified and that 
the correct combination of Card and PIN were used to carry out the transactions, therefore the Bank 
was contractually bound to debit the sums from the Complainant’s account.

The Ombudsman, having investigated the matter, found that the Bank was absolutely correct to 
debit the money initially as the transactions were both Card and PIN verified. However, once a report 
of fraud is made there is an onus on the Bank to investigate this matter. An investigation was duly 
carried out as a result of which the Bank was satisfied that no fraud had occurred.

However, the Ombudsman, having examined all the evidence and considering all the surrounding 
circumstances, came to a different conclusion. In his opinion, on the balance of probability, a fraud 
of some kind did take place. There was no evidence of negligence on the part of the Complainant and 
therefore the Ombudsman directed the Bank to credit the Complainant’s account with the amount 
debited, ¤540.

Only ¤2,000 of foreign ATM withdrawals of ¤4,000 were fraudulent
A university student who, during his holidays, went on an exchange trip to various European countries 
complained that he had ¤4,000 withdrawn from his account through the ATM system without his 
authorisation. ¤2,000 of the money had been withdrawn in small amounts in France, Spain, Germany, 
Poland, Czech Republic, Croatia and Slovenia and a further ¤2,000 was withdrawn in Italy. He had 
not been in Italy but the internal complaints procedure revealed that he had been present in the other 
countries on the dates of the transactions. The Bank stated that its investigation revealed that the 
transactions in Italy did have a fraudulent pattern to them and therefore the Bank was satisfied that 
he had been defrauded in Italy and the ¤2,000 was refunded to him by the Bank. However, the Bank 
refused to return any of the money withdrawn in the other countries on the grounds that the pattern 
of spend normally seen on a counterfeit Card did not occur.

The Ombudsman was satisfied that the Bank had carried out a full investigation and he found 
that the Bank had not acted unfairly in refusing a refund for the transactions, apart from those that 
took place in Italy. This was because those transactions were made using the correct combination of 
the Card and PIN and the circumstances were clearly distinguishable from the transactions which had 
taken place in Italy. The complaint was not upheld.
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50% of health insurance claim of ¤11,400 paid as pre-existing condition
not fully proven
The Complainant transferred Health Insurance cover to another Health Insurance Company in 
March 2003 with a break in cover of 17 weeks. It was explained to the Complainant that due to his 
cover with his previous insurer lapsing for a period greater than 13 weeks, waiting periods would apply 
to him on joining. This meant that no benefit would be payable for any treatment he would receive 
during any applicable waiting period. The Complainant subsequently submitted a claim for ¤11,400 
to the Company in respect of treatment received for Alcohol Dependence Syndrome in June 2008. 
The treating hospital stated:

“Nature	of	symptoms	to	be	Depression,	insomnia,	and	regular	alcohol	intake”,	and	went	on	to	note		
“the	primary	diagnosis	as	being	Hazardous	Drinking,	Depression/OCD”.	

A pre-existing condition was defined under the policy of insurance as:

“Any	disease,	illness	or	injury	which	began	or	the	symptoms	of	which	began	before	the	person	with	the	
disease,	illness	or	injury	started	his	or	her	current	continuous	period	of	membership	of	the	scheme.”

Pre-existing conditions are not covered under the policy until such time as the applicable waiting 
period has passed. The applicable waiting period in this instance case was the first seven years of 
membership. This meant that the Complainant would not be covered for any pre-existing condition 
until seven years of membership had passed. 

The Company assessed the claim and repudiated same on the basis that the condition suffered  
by the Complainant was a pre-existing condition since 1999 for which the applicable waiting period 
had not been served. The Complainant in his submissions to the Ombudsman argued that the 
condition suffered by him in 2008, i.e. alcohol dependence syndrome was not a pre-existing condition. 
The Complainant stated that the condition which required treatment in 1999 was Depression / OCD, 
while the condition suffered in 2008 was alcohol dependence syndrome. The Complainant’s treating 
doctor strongly supported this view. 

The Ombudsman during the investigation of the complaint had regard not only to the terms  
and conditions of the insurance contract but also to what he believed to be fair and reasonable  
under the circumstances. He formed the opinion based on all the medical evidence submitted that  
a question did arise as to whether the cause of the Complainant’s admission to the treating hospital 
was due in fact to alcohol dependence syndrome or whether it was due to a pre-existing condition,  
i.e. OCD / Depression. The Ombudsman pointed out that the evidence submitted indicated that  
the Complainant had not a history of serious alcohol abuse. In the circumstances he requested  
the Company to pay the Complainant 50% of the benefit payable under the policy for the  
treatment received. 

¤30,000 stolen property from guesthouse not upheld for non-disclosure 
of prior claims
The complainant was a guest house owner who had incepted a Guest House Multiperil Policy of 
Insurance in March 2006. In May 2006 the Complainant reported two stolen property claims under 
the policy amounting to ¤30,000. Following investigation of the claims the Company cancelled the 
Complainant’s policy ab	initio on the grounds that the Complainant had failed to disclose a number of 
previous property damage claims with previous insurers as required by the Proposal Form. A refund 
of all premiums paid was then made. The Complainant was unhappy with this decision.
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The Complainant argued that the Proposal Form in dispute failed to set out clearly the 
information which it specifically required, e.g. dates and amounts of previous claims and the 
insurance company to whom these claims were made. The Complainant also queried the Company’s 
interpretation of the details provided her in response to a particular question on the form as referring 
to two claims only, one in 2003 and one in 2004. The Complainant stated that the information she 
had given specified no particular dates.

Having studied the Proposal Form and the questions contained therein, the Ombudsman noted 
that the Complainant was asked clearly to provide the details of “any	accident,	loss,	damage,	or	liability	
during	the	last	5	years,	whether	insured	or	not”. It appeared to be the case, and the Complainant did not 
dispute, that within the previous five year period the Complainant had made four separate claims 
under previous household insurance policies with two other insurance companies. The Ombudsman 
did not find, by any interpretation, that the response given by the Complainant to the question,  
i.e. “ damage	to	dining	room	ceiling	by	burst	radiator	pipe	upstairs;	carpet	damage	by	leaking	radiator	¤1,100	
(2005)”, was a full and accurate disclosure of the details requested. 

Furthermore, in response to the question, “Are	you	at present	or	have you ever been insured	
[Ombudsman’s	emphasis]	in	respect	of	the	perils	and	contingencies	to	which	this	Proposal	refers?	If	“Yes”,	state	
name	of	Insurance	Company,” the Complainant disclosed the name of only one insurance company with 
whom she was insured at that time or immediately prior to completing the Proposal Form, but failed 
to disclose that she had had insurance cover with another insurance company previously and against 
which policy she had also made a number of claims.

The Ombudsman emphasises again that it is important to remember that an insurance contract is a 
contract uberrimae fidei - a contract of the utmost good faith. This is one of the fundamental principles 
of insurance. An applicant for insurance is in the best position to know the facts and circumstances 
relating to his or her application, and he or she has a duty to disclose all such material facts to the 
insurer. Such facts have to be disclosed fully, accurately and truthfully. If an applicant for insurance is 
in any doubt as to whether a fact is material, then it should be disclosed to the insurance company.

The Ombudsman found that the Proposal Form drew the Complainant’s attention to the  
serious consequences of failure to disclose all material information, all material information had not 
been provided and in the circumstances the Provider was entitled to void the Complainant’s policy 
from inception.

Burned out stolen car complaint of ¤3,500 not upheld as son stealing it
not disclosed
The Complainant had his vehicle stolen from outside his daughter’s house. The vehicle was 
subsequently recovered by Gardaí but had been burned out. A claim for ¤3,500 was submitted to  
his Insurance Company for the loss of the vehicle. 

The Insurance Company issued a Motor Theft Report Form to the Complainant. This form 
was completed and signed by the Complainant before being returned to the Insurance Company. 
The Insurance Company upon receiving the Motor Theft Report Form carried out extensive 
investigations and contacted the investigating Gardaí. As a result of these investigations it transpired 
that the Complainant’s own son had stolen the vehicle, crashed it and later burnt it out. 

After submitting the claim to the Company the Complainant and his son were called to the 
local Garda station for questioning. During this questioning his son admitted taking the vehicle. 
The Complainant had withheld this information when completing the Insurance Company’s Motor 
Theft Report Form and continued to withhold the information. The Ombudsman also noted that the 
Company called the Complainant into its office and conducted a face-to-face interview. During this 
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interview the Complainant admitted that he had known that it was his son who had stolen the vehicle. 
The Company repudiated the claim on the grounds of non-disclosure of a material fact and the 

Ombudsman upheld its decision.

Fall of ¤10,500 in ¤40,000 investment merits ¤6,660 award
A bank customer who had just retired on pension received ¤50,000 in a tax-free lump sum and 

a pension of ¤570 per month. He went to the Bank for investment advice and was advised to put 
¤40,000 in a particular fund and place ¤10,000 on deposit. One year later the fund was worth only 
¤30,500. He cashed in his policy and complained to the Ombudsman that he had been badly advised.

The Bank stated that the Complainant was regarded as a “growth	investor”. In other words, he was 
a person who, in its eyes, was looking for opportunities for his investments to outperform inflation 
and that he was therefore prepared to invest in equities, assets and property etc. The Bank also stated 
that it did expect that these assets would outperform deposits in the medium/long term and that 
the Complainant understood fully that they were subject to investment risk in that the worth of the 
investment could fluctuate and might end up worth less than what was put in. The Bank stated that 
the Complainant admitted that he understood that if the investment did not perform as intended,  
he might not get all of his money back.

In assessing the case, the Ombudsman placed particular reliance on the documentation provided 
by each of the parties. The Bank had conducted a financial review and as part of this review they 
conducted an attitude to risk. The Bank alleged that the Complainant described himself as a growth 
investor. However, the Ombudsman, having reviewed the file, noted that the Complainant had no 
other investments whatsoever nor did he own any property. This would seem to indicate that the 
Complainant was a somewhat inexperienced investor, to say the least. The Complainant had said that 
he was never given the option of any other type of investment product. There was a 30 day cooling-off 
period which the Complainant had not availed of.

The Ombudsman came to the conclusion that the Complainant had indeed understood from the 
outset that the product included some element of risk to his funds. However, the Ombudsman was 
not satisfied that all measures were taken by the Bank to adequately explain to the Complainant the 
extent of the risk that he would be undertaking, particularly having regard to the fact that this was 
his only capital. The Ombudsman found that the Complainant must accept some responsibility for 
having agreed to the investment. Nevertheless the Bank must bear the major share of responsibility 
and he directed that the sum of ¤6,660 be paid to the Complainant by the Bank for the inappropriate 
sale which had occurred.

¤100,000 Investment Bond complaint not upheld
A customer claimed that he was pressurised by his Bank into investing ¤100,000 in an investment 
bond. He lost money on the bond which did not do well. He complained to the Ombudsman that  
his original investment ought to be returned to him because he had not been given a copy of the 
Terms and Conditions of the investment , that he was not informed of any cooling-off period and  
that the Bank had taken the initiative in introducing him to the bond. The Bank stated that at a 
meeting the documents in question were handed over to the Complainant. The Complainant said 
“that	never	happened”. However, after considering the evidence, the Ombudsman came to a different 
conclusion in that the Complainant was mistaken and that the Bank’s advisor did give him a copy of 
the Terms and Conditions of the investment, including the cooling-off period and that the decision 
to invest was not made on foot of improper pressure applied by the Bank’s advisor. The complaint was 
found not to be substantiated.



financial services ombudsman66

Bank account of deceased could not be released to a brother
A Complainant whose sister had died sought to have the funds in her Bank account at the Bank 
released to him. The Bank refused. The Complainant brought a complaint to the Ombudsman 
claiming that the Bank was acting wrongfully in not releasing the funds to him as he was her legal 
representative. However, the basis for the Bank’s refusal was that the customer had left a Will and  
the Complainant was not the Executor thereof. 

The Ombudsman found that the Bank was correct in its contention that the Executor is the only 
person to whom the Bank could release funds. The Executor’s powers derive directly from the Will 
and the provisions of the Will, including the appointed Executor, are deemed to be evidence of the 
intentions of the deceased person (apart from a situation where the entire value of the estate is less 
than ¤25,000 where a bank can pay out without a Grant of Probate or Letters of Administration 
being taken out). Otherwise where a valid Will exists the funds can only be released to the Executor 
named in the Will.

The Ombudsman pointed out that if the Complainant was entitled to succeed under the Will of 
his late sister then the appropriate course of action was for him to apply to the Executor named in the 
Will and have the appropriate funds released to him. The Ombudsman was satisfied that the Bank 
had acted correctly in this case and the complaint therefore was not upheld.

Six month notice period introduced for cashing in investment policy
cost investor ¤5,000
The Complainant invested ¤40,000 in a unit-linked policy with an Insurance Company in January 
2004. In March 2008, the Complainant attempted to withdraw his investment and completed a 
savings withdrawal form. However, in January 2008, the Company had introduced a six month delay 
(notice period) for cashing in or switching from the plan, i.e. six months’ notice had to be given to 
the Company before the withdrawal could be carried out. Therefore when the withdrawal took place 
in September 2008 the Complainant received ¤64,000 which was ¤5,000 less than he would have 
received in March. He also argued that, at the sale of the policy, he had not been made aware that a 
notice period could have been introduced and had lost money as a result. 

The Ombudsman concluded that the policy documentation and sales process clearly referred 
to a possible six month delay notice period being applied to withdrawals and noted that the 
Company wrote to the Complainant in January 2008 when the notice period was being applied. 
The Ombudsman noted that the application of this delay notice period was to protect the investors 
who remained in the fund for the long term and the Company had justified its application. The 
Ombudsman did not uphold the complaint.

Concerns about motor insurance policies cancelled over the phone –
¤800 award
The Complainant had a motor insurance policy with the Company and on 1 August 2006 was 
involved in a single vehicle accident. He advised the Ombudsman that he subsequently phoned  
the Company to inform them of this and to “stop” his car insurance from the time of the accident, 
until he got a new vehicle and could transfer cover to the new vehicle. A claim was submitted to the 
Company for the damage caused to his vehicle. The Complainant requested that cover be transferred 
to the new vehicle three weeks later but was informed that this could not be done, as the policy had 
been cancelled as opposed to suspended. He was advised that a new policy would have to be set up. 



annual report 2009 67

The Complainant attempted to resolve the dispute over a period of four months but during this 
time spoke to many different Representatives of the Company who provided him with inconsistent 
advice in regard to his motor insurance policy. The Complainant also disputed the deduction of 
the remaining instalment payments under the policy from the settlement amount of his claim. 
The Company was of the view that it is confirmed in policy documentation that the Company 
has the right to take any premium owed from any claim it may pay. The Company apologised to 
the Complainant on account of his dissatisfaction with the information provided to him by its 
Representatives. 

As regards the Complainant’s allegations that he received different advice from different 
Company Representatives, the Ombudsman found it impossible to decide on as the names of 
Company Representatives were never provided, so that the Ombudsman could obtain statements.  
The Ombudsman was satisfied that the policy clearly and unambiguously confirmed that if a 
policyholder was paying a premium via instalments, the full yearly premium became payable in the 
event of the submission of a claim under the policy during the relevant period of cover. 

However, the Ombudsman was conscious that the substantive element of this dispute surrounded 
what was advised to the Complainant when he contacted the Company via telephone to notify it of 
his accident. The Complainant argued that his motor insurance policy should have been suspended 
as opposed to cancelled. The Company argued that it had details of the Complainant’s request 
to “cancel” his policy made on 10 August 2006. Therefore the Ombudsman requested from the 
Company a copy of the Complainant’s written request to cancel his motor insurance policy with the 
Company, as well as a copy of the letter issued from the Company to the Complainant confirming the 
cancellation of this policy. In February 2009 the Company informed the Ombudsman that it did not 
receive a written request from the Complainant to cancel his policy. In addition it advised that it was 
not until October 2006 that it issued a letter to the Complainant confirming that it had cancelled his 
motor insurance policy with effect from 1 August 2006. 

Regardless of whether the Complainant’s insured vehicle was roadworthy after 1 August 2006, 
the Ombudsman found it unacceptable that the Company would cancel a policy via telephone when 
the policy conditions specifically require cancellation in writing. The Ombudsman also expressed his 
concerns that the Company did not notify the Complainant in writing of the cancellation of his policy 
for approximately two months. The Ombudsman felt that had the Complainant made his request in 
writing, this element of the dispute would not have arisen and he also noted that the Company could 
not provide any audio, cd or transcripts of the relevant telephone conversations. The Ombudsman 
accordingly requested the Company to make an award of ¤800 for the inconvenience and confusion 
caused to the Complainant. 

The Ombudsman also asked the Company to review its policy of not recording phone calls and 
referred this aspect to the Financial Regulator. The Financial Regulator indicated in May 2009 that 
a consultation would shortly take place about recording and maintaining phone and other electronic 
communications in the context of MIFIDS regulations but are not at this time requiring other firms 
to do so. The motor insurance issue may be considered in the context of a proposed review of the 
Consumer Protection Code in due course.

Accountancy firm’s role in “execution only” ¤500,000 investment
was somewhat confusing
In 2003, the Complainant attended a presentation given by a staff member of a firm of financial 
advisors/accountants. The presentation gave information regarding an investment product which 
was being offered by a financial institution in Europe. The Complainant subsequently invested in 
the product on an “execution	only”	basis, investing a sum of over ¤500,000. The investment product 
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performed poorly and the Complainant complained to the Ombudsman about the information and 
service received from the firm of financial advisors.

In investigating the complaint the Ombudsman requested all documentation issued by the 
firm of financial advisors and requested clarification as to the firm’s status regarding the sale of the 
investment product. The Ombudsman also noted the contract between the Complainant and the 
financial institution with which the investment was held. He pointed out that the investment was 
carried out on an “execution only” basis and that the Complainant acknowledged he was never a client 
of the firm of financial advisors which carried out the presentation. 

The Ombudsman found that the complaint against the firm of financial advisors could not be 
upheld as the Complainant was never a client of the firm. He also found that the information  
provided at the presentation was clear as to the nature of the investment product being purchased by 
the Complainant. 

However, the Ombudsman raised serious concerns he had regarding how the firm of financial 
advisors referred to itself on its documentation. He noted that some documentation referred to the 
firm as giving financial advice, whereas other documentation referred to wealth management.  
The firm has since taken steps to ensure that this matter was resolved. 

He also noted that as the firm was an accountancy firm it was authorised as an investment 
intermediary under an approved body authorisation (not subject to Ombudsman’s remit) as well as 
having a separate investment intermediary company which was subject to the Ombudsman’s remit. 
The Ombudsman pointed out that confusion may arise in this regard when consumers sought 
investment advice and referred the matter to the Financial Regulator as he considers that where a 
complaint about any investment advice arises it should be subject to the Ombudsman’s remit so as to 
have a level playing field for everyone.

¤200 awarded for delay in paying travel insurance claim
The Complainant incepted a travel insurance policy with the Company to cover his trip to Austria for 
two weeks in February 2007. Whilst on holiday in Austria, the Complainant had an accident whilst 
snowboarding and required treatment in hospital. Upon his return home he submitted a claim to the 
Company. The Complainant argued that although he was asked if he wanted the Company’s Claims 
Administrators to pay the hospital directly two weeks after he submitted the claim, a few weeks later 
the payment had still not been made and he subsequently received a cheque for the incorrect amount 
in the post from the Company’s Claims Administrators. He pointed out that this occurred despite the 
hospital’s specific requirement that payment be made within 10 days. 

The Complainant corresponded with the Company’s Claims Administrators regularly following 
the submission of his claim and requested regular updates. Despite this, in July 2007 the Complainant 
received a letter from the hospital in Austria advising that it would be taking legal action to recover 
the outstanding payment which had still not been received by it. The Complainant was particularly 
aggrieved to have received same. In response to the Ombudsman, the Company accepted that there 
was a delay of fifteen working days from when it received the Bank details for the hospital to making 
the actual payment. It advised that this was considered outside its normal procedures and it apologised 
for any inconvenience caused. The Company confirmed that payment in full had since been made to 
the hospital and forwarded evidence of same to the Complainant and the Ombudsman. 

The Ombudsman found that it was clear from the evidence submitted that there was some 
confusion during the assessment of the claim and delays were incurred as a result. He was also 
concerned about the Claims Administrators’ level of communication with the Complainant during 
the assessment of the claim and found that this could have been better. In view of all of the customer 
service issues raised the Ombudsman found that the Company was to pay the Complainant ¤200 for 
the stress and inconvenience caused to the Complainant. 
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Hair transplant eyebrow treatment health insurance claim not upheld
The Complainant was a staff member of a Health Insurance Company. He had an excision of a 
malignant lesion to his medial eyebrow area. The Company paid the Complainant the benefit payable 
under the policy for this procedure. 

The Complainant subsequently sought cover for a hair transplant procedure to be carried out 
on his eyebrow. The Complainant felt that this treatment should be covered in the same way breast 
reconstruction following cancer is covered. The Company declined to cover on the grounds that  
the proposed surgery was not eligible for benefit under the Terms and Conditions of membership. 
The matter was then referred to the Ombudsman by the Complainant.

The Ombudsman found that while there were many benefits covered under the Complainant’s 
medical expenses insurance plan and that the limitations thereto were clearly defined he found that 
hair transplantation was not one of the procedures for which benefit was payable under the plan.  
The Complaint was not upheld.

¤250,000 to retired farmer for bank’s cavalier approach and
belittling remarks
A husband and wife in their mid 60s retired from farming and sold land for ¤3m. They were 
approached by their bank and invited to invest in certain bonds which the bank was marketing.  
In April 2007 they invested ¤2m in two bonds which they understood were capital guaranteed.  
By December 2007 they were concerned about the fall in value of the bonds to ¤1.88m but were 
assured that matters were fine. In May 2008, the Complainants had asked about cashing in their 
investment as it had now fallen to ¤1.75m but were persuaded by the Bank not to do so as matters 
should improve. By August 2008 they were very concerned that the value of their investment had 
fallen further to ¤1.6m and took the matter up with the Bank. The bank official who was dealing with 
them stated that “they	had	nothing	to	worry	about	because	it	was	a	guaranteed	fund’’. This simply was not 
true. Six weeks later the Bank reluctantly admitted to the Complainants that it had given them wrong 
information. Eventually in October 2008 they cashed in the bonds for ¤1.46m with a loss of ¤160,000 
arising since August 2008 – the overall loss on the investment was ¤540,000. 

Having reviewed and considered the evidence of both parties, the Ombudsman felt that the 
Complainants were at best confused, or at worst, completely misled by the Bank in regard to the 
nature and state of the investments. However, the cavalier manner by which the Bank dealt with the 
matter since December 2007 and especially compounded by the August 2008 actions was highly 
unsatisfactory. The Ombudsman felt that a large compensation award was merited. He accordingly 
awarded the maximum compensation he can award, ¤250,000, for the consequences suffered by this 
couple as a result of the overall conduct of the Bank. He also directed that the Bank should make a 
formal written apology for belittling remarks made by one senior official that, “ having	done	so	well	out	of	
the	sale	of	your	land,	you	ought	not	to	be	complaining	about	the	losses	incurred	when	the	proceeds	were	invested”.

¤410,000 invested in Property Bond to be refunded in full
A longstanding lady customer of a Bank, aged 68, whose family house was sold lodged her portion 
(¤410,000) of the sale proceeds with the Bank in December 2007. She had been separated for some 
time from her husband, lived alone, had no pension, was working part time and at the age of 68 she felt 
she had little prospect of getting a full time job. She and her son met with the Bank in January 2008 to 
discuss possible investment opportunities where she already had ¤100,000 in total invested with the 
Bank in a property fund bond on two separate occasions in 2000 and 2005. She was advised to invest 
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all the money that she held on deposit in the same fund and she claimed that no other investment 
options were discussed. When she later met with the Bank during April 2008 she was informed that 
the investment had been devalued by 12.5% but there was no need for her to worry. She also alleged 
that she was given further assurance in June 2008 that the investment would recover. By October 
2008 the ¤410,000 investment had fallen by ¤224,000 to ¤186,000 and there would also be a  
penalty of ¤10,000 if it was to be cashed in at that date. Furthermore, if she wished to withdraw  
from the investment at any stage she would have to give six months’ notice for any encashment in 
excess of ¤100,000 and she alleged that this was not brought to her attention at the investment 
meeting. In February 2009, because she was not getting satisfaction from the Bank, she complained  
to the Ombudsman.

The Ombudsman noted that shortly after the commencement of the investment the unit price 
was reduced by the bond provider by 12.5% as this adjustment was made to protect the remaining 
investors and was done due to difficult property market conditions. The Ombudsman also noted that 
the Complainant had made it clear at the time of the investment that she would soon be requiring an 
income as she had no other means to support herself. 

The Bank stated that in the course of the January 2008 financial planning consultation the 
Complainant indicated that she did not want a full financial review and did not require any access to 
the investment during the five year term. The Bank also indicated that it offered her the choice from 
a selection of four different suitable investment products but that she had decided to place the full 
amount of her investment in the property fund in which she had already invested on two separate 
occasions. However, the Ombudsman noted that the fact find, allegedly completed at the meeting, 
was not signed by the Complainant but she was categorised as medium risk, i.e. the investment was 
susceptible to decrease in value. He was concerned that the fact find was not signed and contained a 
number of significant errors such as that her son was described as female; she was identified as a widow 
and non-smoker when in fact she was separated and was a smoker. In addition, her home and contents 
were valued at ¤1.1m when in fact she stated that they were worth only ¤150,000. While she was also 
identified as having a cash deposit of ¤700,000 she in fact only had a deposit of ¤20,000. In effect she 
was classed as having total assets of ¤1.8m when in fact they were only worth ¤200,000. There were 
various other inaccuracies in the fact find as well. The Ombudsman also noted that all her monies 
were placed in a single product thereby increasing her exposure to the market. When all of these were 
taken into account, together with the fact that on the same day the Bank claimed that the contents 
of the brochure as well as the issue of risk v reward and other important features of the investment 
such as restrictions and transfers out of the investment were explained to the Complainant, the 
Ombudsman felt that the procedure followed could not but have been hurried and indeed haphazard. 
He also considered that the investment proposal could not have been fully and adequately explained  
at the meeting.

The Ombudsman was also concerned that at the meeting in April 2008 the Bank did not 
adequately inform her of the options that were available to her at this time, i.e. not informing her 
that if she wished to withdraw from the investment at that stage she would have to give six months’ 
notice of any encashment in excess of ¤100,000. It appeared to the Ombudsman that the Bank at that 
meeting seemed to be motivated by the desire to keep the existing investments in the fund.

The Ombudsman stated that the investment was a significant step for the Complainant, yet her 
employment status, level of income, asset value and marital status were recorded incorrectly. The 
Ombudsman was satisfied that the Bank did not adequately take account of the Complainant’s age, 
nor did it address concerns that would normally apply to a separated person, working part-time who 
was about to retire without a pension. It also involved a five year commitment without access to funds 
without a penalty being imposed. While the Ombudsman accepted that the Bank had provided a 
Suitability Letter and explained the 30 day cooling-off period, nevertheless it is often the case, as it 
appeared in this case, that this was of limited, if any, value due to the fact that the investor was placing 
a high degree of reliance on the representations received at the original meeting.
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Accordingly, the Ombudsman held that the Bank failed in its duty of care to the Complainant 
and so as to rectify the conduct complained of and its consequences, he directed that the Complainant 
should surrender the bond and at the same time the Bank was to return the ¤410,000 to her.

Early intervention by Ombudsman results in ¤143,000 paid to
two elderly couples
If a Financial Service Provider is not cooperating with his staff or not adhering to the agreed 
guidelines and procedures under which his Office operates the Ombudsman will not hesitate to 
intervene personally to speed up matters. It is regrettable that he has to do this occasionally. The 
following are just two instances where the direct personal intervention of the Ombudsman resulted 
in very favourable outcomes in a short time period for elderly couples without the need for detailed 
investigations by him.

Case 1:
An elderly couple were encouraged to invest a substantial amount of their life savings (¤30,000). 
The couple, on realising that they were, in fact, after investing their money in an investment bond, 
rather than placing it in a deposit account, as they thought they had, contacted the Ombudsman for 
his assistance. Normal procedure was followed in which the Complainants had initially to write and 
request a final response letter from the Financial Service Provider in question justifying its position. 
This letter was requested in March 2009. As the agreed timeframe of 25 working days in which the 
Provider had to respond had passed without any final response letter being issued and continued 
reminders from his staff were ignored then the Ombudsman intervened personally. After sustained 
pressure from him on the Company to issue the response immediately, the Company instead  
decided to settle and in July 2009 returned the ¤30,000 with interest of ¤500. The Complainants 
informed the Ombudsman they had since placed their money where they had originally decided to – 
in a deposit account.

Case 2:
The Complainants, an elderly, retired couple, went to place their money in a “ deposit	account	with	a	
good	interest	rate”. The Complainants had ¤113,000 of savings. After discussing options with a Bank 
official, the Complainants instead signed up to a ‘‘ high	risk	investment’ ’. It was not the intention of the 
Complainants to pursue this option. After making a complaint to the Ombudsman the Complainants 
did not receive a response from the Bank within the required timeframe. Indeed, the Complainants 
were extremely distraught as their investment continued to drop sharply in value each passing day. 
Despite several emails and phone calls being made to the Provider in question by the Ombudsman’s 
staff, no final response letter was issued after another 10 days. The non-compliance by the Bank was 
then brought to the attention of the Ombudsman himself, who took personal charge of the case. He 
immediately contacted the Head of Compliance of the Bank and set a very short deadline for a final 
response letter to be issued. He also expressed his extreme dissatisfaction at the delay by the Bank – 
comments which were acknowledged and noted by the relevant personnel. On reflection, the Bank 
accepted that errors had been made in both the selling process and indeed, when dealing with the 
complaint. It then made an immediate full re-imbursement of the investment plus interest accrued. 

He trusts that situations like the foregoing will rarely happen in future as the stress and anxiety  
it can cause especially to the Complainants as well as taking up unnecessary staff time in his Office  
is just not acceptable.
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Grandmother’s ¤10,000 burial fund and grandchild’s ¤2,200 nest egg
wrongly invested
An 80 year old grandmother made two complaints to the Ombudsman about the alleged actions  
and advice of a tied agent (the Bank) of an Insurance Company and that the actions of the Company  
was causing her stress and anxiety. 

The first complaint related to an account which she opened with the Bank on behalf of a new 
born grandchild. This account was a 21-day Regular Saver account, which she opened in November 
2006 with an amount of ¤200. She stated that she lodged over time a further ¤2,000 to what she 
believed was this account but she was never made aware until October 2008 that the account was 
changed to a different investment account with the Company in August 2007. When she went to 
cash it in then its value was only ¤1,900. She was dissatisfied that although she only wanted a simple 
savings account on behalf of a grandchild, the Company had in August 2007 changed the account 
to a long-term investment plan which she considered was not suitable to her needs. She argued that 
she was never given any explanation for this and requested that the ¤2,200 be returned to her. The 
Ombudsman noted that the Company accepted that the Complainant’s intention was to provide a 
savings fund for her grandchild using a 21 Day Regular Savings account and that the Complainant 
requested “easy	access” to this account. He noted that this type of account was changed in August 2007 
following a review by the Bank with her. However, the Ombudsman also noted that after August 2007 
she could only access the funds by incurring large penalties. According to the policy documentation 
this new account was “an	open-ended	regular	payment	savings	plan’ ’ and “as	an	investment	for	a	period	of	
at	least	five	years”. The Ombudsman therefore upheld her Complaint. 

The second complaint related to an amount ¤18,000, which she advised the Bank, before she 
invested it with them, it was a “ burial	fund” and “emergency	expenses” for herself and her husband. She 
also advised it that this was the first time in her life that she had such a substantial amount of money. 
According to the Company she had intended lodging the cheque to a current account but the Bank 
advised her otherwise. In August 2007 after she spoke with the Bank branch personnel she made the 
investment but she was distressed to discover in October 2008 that ¤10,000 was invested in a long 
term Company investment policy, leaving her with no immediate access to this money and its value 
then was also only ¤8,500 but subject as well to an early withdrawal penalty of ¤355. She requested 
that her ¤10,000 be refunded but the Company refused as it was of the view that this investment was 
sold in the correct and proper manner and that Bank staff acted in her interests at all times. It advised 
her that she could at any time surrender it, but confirmed that she would incur exit penalties and get 
back less than her original investment.

The Ombudsman firstly considered whether the advice given was appropriate. He noted that the 
¤10,000 investment did provide guarantees in relation to the return of the initial capital at maturity, 
albeit six years later. The remainder of the lump sum (¤8,000) was in a 21 day deposit account in order 
to provide access for emergency use. The Ombudsman was satisfied that the Bank acted appropriately 
in setting up this 21 day access deposit account of ¤8,000 for emergency use. 

As for the ¤10,000 investment the Ombudsman considered whether it was suitable given her age, 
life expectancy, health circumstances and particular needs. The Company informed the Ombudsman 
that the life expectancy for a lady of 79/80 was in the region of ten years and a six year equity linked 
investment time frame would not be considered overly long based on her life expectancy and given 
that she had ready access to the ¤8,000 account. The Ombudsman found that the Complainant made 
it clear to the Bank that she required the full lump sum for burial purposes and emergencies, her 
husband was ill and she had informed the Bank that this was the first time that she had such a large 
sum of money in her possession. He noted that this equities linked investment, with a maturity term 
of six years, meant that withdrawal before the age of 85 incurred large penalties. He also noted that she 
was unaccompanied when she was getting the advice though she had been offered this opportunity. 
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The Company also issued to her a few days later all necessary policy documentation as well as  
offering her the normal “cooling	off	period” to withdraw from the investment. She admitted to the 
Ombudsman that from time to time she received letters in relation to the accounts, but “ left	them	in	
a	box”. Various other packages were also received from the Company but she did not understand why 
she received them. Indeed when she brought these packages to the Bank branch, she said that the 
staff person to whom she spoke “ just	tore	them	up	and	said	forget	about	them”. The Ombudsman finally 
observed that no evidence was submitted by the Company or the Bank to show that she had any 
previous investment experience.

After reviewing all the submissions made by both parties the Ombudsman was satisfied that 
this lady of advanced years was a genuine person who had little knowledge of the finer points of 
investments, she just wanted to provide for her own needs but with an overriding requirement of 
security of capital and immediate access to the funds. He found that the ¤10,000 investment did not 
meet this criteria and was sold to the Complainant without the exercise of due care. However, the 
Ombudsman accepts that a six year equity based investment account for persons of advanced years 
can be appropriate in limited circumstances but each case must be considered on its merits. 

The Ombudsman accordingly directed the Company to buy back the investment for the original 
¤10,000 and to pay this amount to her. Similarly, he directed that the grandchild’s ¤2,200 should be 
returned to her and the account be closed. He also directed that an additional sum of ¤1,000 was to 
be paid as compensation for the stress and inconvenience caused to her and to take into consideration 
any interest due.

¤175,000 award where ¤290,000 loss suffered by elderly couple
An elderly couple (wife 73, husband 80) took ¤1m from a deposit account and invested it in a  
Managed Fund, having been advised to do so by an investment advisor at their Bank. They brought 
a complaint to the Ombudsman when there was a serious fall in the value of their investment. A year 
after investing in the fund, being worried about the fall in the value of the fund, they cashed it in for 
¤1.2m, a loss of ¤290,000 in twelve months. Their complaint to the Ombudsman was that the Bank was 
negligent in selling them this product where the capital sum was not guaranteed as they thought it was. 

The Ombudsman, in his finding, noted that it was the Complainants who had themselves 
approached the Bank seeking a better return on their deposit account and that a fact find had been 
correctly made out showing that the aim of the couple was “to	achieve	income	and	growth”; that the sum 
invested represented approximately 40% of their total assets and that the promotional brochure with 
which they had been furnished stated that there was no capital guarantee. Also their adult children 
were present at the meetings. That was all in favour of the Bank’s position. 

However, the Ombudsman found that a covering letter from the Bank had described the fund as 
“a	guaranteed	fund” and a further letter from fund owners had also described the fund as “guaranteed”. 
Neither of these statements was true. The fund was not a guaranteed fund, it was an open-ended 
investment, with no maturity date, and was categorised as a medium risk investment. 

It was clear to the Ombudsman that the Complainants made the investment in the Fund because 
they were dissatisfied with the rate of return from the deposit account. He noted that investigation of 
the complaint by the Bank had been hindered by the fact that it had been unable to obtain a statement 
from the former staff member who sold the investment or even to make contact with him. 

In arriving at his decision, the Ombudsman had to balance the facts that on the one hand the 
Complainants had themselves sought the advice from the Bank (not having been approached first)  
and signed up to the Terms and Conditions. On the other hand, the mistaken description of the fund  
as “guaranteed” in two letters from the Bank might reasonably have misled the customers that their 
capital sum invested was guaranteed, when in fact it was not. On balance the Ombudsman ruled  
that there was fault on both sides. 
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The Bank, on a without prejudice basis, had offered the Complainants ¤120,000 but this had 
been rejected. The Ombudsman was not satisfied with this amount and instead directed that 60% of 
the loss must be met by the Bank. Accordingly the Ombudsman awarded ¤175,000 in compensation 
to the Complainants.

Mortgage rate had to return to original tracker rate at the end of
fixed rate period
In June 2007 a couple took out a ¤1m thirty year mortgage from a Building Society based on a 
tracker rate of 0.75% over the ECB Repo rate. In August 2007, the Complainant decided to switch to 
the Society’s two year fixed rate of 4.79% and signed a Mortgage Form of Authorisation (MFA) in 
order to avail of this. The fixed rate term expired in August 2009. On its expiration the Society ruled 
that a tracker rate of 1.1% over the ECB Repo rate would be applied. The couple complained to the 
Ombudsman that the terms and conditions of the original mortgage offer ought to be applied and  
that the interest rate should revert to the tracker rate of plus 0.75%. 

The Society however disagreed and insisted that the MFA served to displace the tracker rate 
condition in the original loan offer. In fact, the Society submitted that it was not even obliged to offer 
the Complainants a tracker rate of 1.1% above the ECB Repo rate. The only reason this rate was being 
offered was because a letter was sent to the Complainants in error in December 2008, which indicated 
that the Complainants’ mortgage would roll onto a tracker rate of ECB Repo rate plus a margin 
of 1.1%. The Society had decided to offer this rate because this erroneous letter could have led the 
Complainants to expect that they were entitled to this rate.

Having considered the evidence submitted by both parties, the Ombudsman was of the opinion 
that the original loan offer committed the Society to a tracker mortgage rate of 0.75% above the 
ECB Repo rate for the entire 30 year mortgage term. However, the Society had agreed to the 
Complainants’ request to fix the mortgage interest rate for two years. Indeed, the Society’s right to 
allow customers to avail of a fixed rate of interest was covered under the conditions of the original 
loan offer. The Society also argued that a condition of the Complainants’ original mortgage offer was 
superseded by the terms and conditions of the MFA. 

The Society referred to the section of the MFA, signed by the Complainants, which stated:  
“I	acknowledge	that	following	the	acceptance	by	the	lender	of	this	application,	the	terms	and	conditions	applicable	
to	the	loan	shall	be	amended/varied	by	the	terms	and	conditions	set	out	in	this	form	of	authorisation,	and	I	accept	
the	said	conditions	and	agree	to	be	bound	by	them”. However, the Ombudsman noted that the MFA further 
stated that the customer acknowledged and agreed that “save	as	set	out	in	this	Form	of	Authorisation,	
all	the	terms	and	conditions	applicable	to	the	Loan	remain	unchanged”. There was no express condition on 
the face of the two page MFA form relating to either a) which rate of interest would apply following 
expiration of the fixed rate period or b) the procedure to be followed upon termination of the fixed 
interest rate term. Accordingly it could only follow that the terms of the original mortgage concerning 
these issues had to apply. The Ombudsman found that this was the only reasonable interpretation 
which could be gleaned from the wording of the MFA.

In summary, the Ombudsman found that the mortgage condition was not superseded by the MFA 
and so the Society must offer the Complainant a tracker rate as per the original loan offer. In those 
circumstances, he upheld the Complainants’ argument. The Ombudsman accordingly directed that 
the rate of 0.75% above the ECB Repo rate should be applied. 

On the issuing of the erroneous letter of 2008 the Ombudsman stated that it would be in the 
Society’s best interest to extend a very high level of service and customer care to customers with 
mortgages of this size. 
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He also considered that the Society should review if cases similar to this one had arisen or may 
arise in future and if so, he considered that the same approach be applied. For that reason he copied 
his Finding to the Financial Regulator for any action it deemed appropriate to take including industry 
wide though he noted that other providers specified in detail what rate would apply at the end of a 
fixed rate period.

No breakage-fee to be charged on exit from fixed rate mortgage
The Complainant has a fixed rate mortgage. In early January 2009, she contacted her mortgage 
lender, another Building Society, seeking clarification as to whether a breakage-fee would be applied  
to her mortgage account if she elected to change from a fixed to a variable rate of interest. She stated 
that she was advised that there was no breakage-fee applicable to her mortgage account and that she 
would have a specified number of days to avail of this breakage-fee of ¤0.00. When she elected to 
proceed with the change from fixed to variable, she was advised that there was in fact a breakage-
fee of ¤20,000 applicable. Naturally in her complaint to the Ombudsman she wished to have the 
offer of the original no breakage-fee applied to her mortgage account, she felt there was insufficient 
information provided to her initially about a breakage-fee and she wanted to avail of the savings 
offered by switching to a variable rate of interest mortgage.

Following a review of the evidence the Ombudsman noted that it was indisputable that the 
mortgage lender provided the Complainant with incorrect information in early January 2009. The 
Ombudsman also noted, with surprise, that the mortgage lender initially justified the application of 
the then breakage-fee on the basis that the Complainant did not submit a written request to avail of 
the original no mortgage breakage-fee. The Ombudsman was cognisant of the fact that it was only 
upon the referral of the matter to his Office that an accurate account explaining the reason, i.e. human 
error, for the incorrect breakage-fee quotation was given. The Ombudsman found that the mortgage 
lender’s responses to the Complainant which pre-dated the referral of the matter to his office were 
inadequate and unsatisfactory. While the Ombudsman accepted that the mortgage lender eventually 
made its position clear, there was an obligation on the mortgage lender from the outset to provide the 
Complainant with full information in relation to the provision of an incorrect breakage-fee quotation.

As regards the application of a breakage-fee the Ombudsman was satisfied that there was 
sufficient information on the face of the fixed rate application form to have properly informed the 
Complainants of the consequences of incurring a breakage-fee. He noted that the language used to 
describe the breakage-fee in the fixed rate instruction form was both clearly constructed and adequate 
to describe the salient features of the breakage-fee. The Ombudsman also stated that there was no 
room for negotiation on the costs involved as to reduce any breakage fee would result in an immediate 
and ongoing loss for the mortgage lender. 

However, the Ombudsman noted that the Complainant did accept the original breakage-fee 
quotation of ¤0.00 as provided to her in early January 2009. He was satisfied that her acceptance 
of that offer occurred within the time-frame which was prescribed by the mortgage lender. It 
was unfortunate for the mortgage lender that the figure quoted had been incorrectly calculated, 
but having put that offer to the Complainant, it was open to her to accept the notified breakage-
fee, as long as she did so within the prescribed acceptance period. Accordingly in considering the 
circumstances of this dispute, the Ombudsman had to determine what was fair and reasonable. 

While the Ombudsman accepted that the mortgage lender made a genuine mistake and/
or improper misrepresentation, nevertheless the Complainant acted in good faith and within the 
prescribed time period. He therefore directed that her mortgage account be immediately switched 
from the fixed to the variable rate (back-dated to January 2009) and he also awarded her ¤1,000 for 
the distress caused for reneging on the offer made.
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¤7,000 award for breakage fee conditions on fixed rate mortgages
not clearly stated
A husband and wife who complained to the Ombudsman had two mortgages with a Bank. In January 
2009 they sought possible breakage fee figures from the Bank in order to redeem their mortgages  
and switch to another provider as the Bank did not offer the type of mortgage they then ought.  
The Bank quoted a zero breakage fee for both mortgages. The Complainants later telephoned on  
two further occasions and were also quoted a zero figure breakage fee in redeeming their mortgage. 
The Complainants went about redeeming their mortgage on this basis in February 2009. 

However, subsequently, the Bank maintained that as the Complainants did not accept the 
breakage fee quoted by the Bank within twenty days, the offer no longer stood and the Complainants 
were liable to breakage fees of ¤7,000 for both mortgages. The Complainants strenuously argued that 
they were told on numerous occasions that there was a zero figure breakage fee on both mortgages 
and in fact were never told that there was a twenty day period to accept this. The Complainants paid 
the breakage fee on one of the mortgages, ¤3,000, but could not get their title deeds on the second 
mortgage in the absence of paying the fee.

The Ombudsman accepted the Bank’s argument that due to a change in interest rates the 
breakage figure quoted to the Complainants no longer stood and the Bank had to charge the 
Complainants a breakage fee. However, the Ombudsman found that at no stage did the Bank make 
the Complainants aware that a twenty day period applied to accept the zero breakage fees quoted. 
The first occasion the Complainants were made aware that a twenty day period and indeed a 
substantial breakage fee applied was when they contacted the Bank requesting official redemption 
figures in the middle of February 2009 when they were in fact switching the mortgages. The 
Ombudsman found that given the fact that the Complainants sought breakage figures during times 
of financial uncertainty and who evidently wanted to avail of cheaper rates, the Bank should have 
ensured that the Complainants were aware that a twenty day period existed to accept the zero figures. 

The Ombudsman consequently upheld the complaint and directed the Bank to refund the 
breakage fee applicable in respect of the first mortgage account, waive the breakage fee in respect of 
the second mortgage account and return the title deeds.

Alteration to Investment Mortgage rate was wrong
In separate complaints about mortgage rates against a Bank three Complainants stated that at  
the time their mortgages on investment properties were agreed and drawn-down, the Bank only 
offered one mortgage reference rate, which was applicable to both home and investment loans. They 
stated that the interest rate applicable on the contractual loan letters clearly stated “Rate	of	Interest” 
is “a	variable	rate”. However, in early 2009 they received a letter in which the Bank stated its intention 
to re-name the existing mortgage accounts and the mortgage rate. The Complainants stated that their 
“Investment	Mortgage” then became subject to an “Investment	Mortgage	Rate” which was a significantly 
higher rate than the original standard variable home loan rate. They were of the view that the Bank 
acted unilaterally and without reference to any legal authority or pursuant to any contractual clause.

In considering these cases, the Ombudsman noted that the Complainants availed of the Bank’s 
investment mortgage as they were aware that interest rate reductions which would be passed on to 
home loan/residential mortgages would also be passed on to their investment mortgages. The relevant 
interest rate reduction would be applied to the standard variable rate which was the reference rate 
applicable to the home loan/residential mortgages and the investment mortgages. When the Bank 
applied a reduction in interest rates to the standard variable rate, it had the effect of also benefiting 
the Complainants’ investment mortgages as the applicable interest reference rate was reduced.  
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He was of the opinion that the Complainants had a fair and reasonable expectation that the original 
benefit of passing on rate reductions to both home-loan/residential mortgages and investment 
mortgages would continue for the term of the loan given that this was the primary reason for availing 
of the Bank’s investment mortgage. Indeed up until early 2009 they had received the benefit of such 
interest rate reductions.

As regards the Bank’s suggestion that it needed to manage the credit risks and pricing for the  
two different loan types, the Ombudsman was of the view that this matter should have been addressed 
in advance of sanctioning the Complainants’ investment mortgage and could not be retrospectively 
reassessed post draw-down of the mortgage. He was of the view also that the Complainants’ 
original investment mortgage agreement had been fundamentally altered by the Bank’s decision to 
apply a more favourable interest rate regime to home-loan/residential mortgage borrowers as the 
Complainants’ investment mortgage was sold to them on the basis that their investment mortgage 
account would also receive any interest rate reduction applied to the standard variable rate. Whilst 
interest rate reductions may have been originally aimed at home borrowers, it was nevertheless 
the case that the benefit of interest rate reductions also had to be passed on to the Complainants’ 
investment mortgage account as it was subject to the standard variable rate which was the rate to 
which the interest rate reduction would be applied.

In short, up until early 2009, the Complainants as investors benefited from interest rate 
reductions and had a legitimate and reasonable expectation that this would continue. Therefore, 
the Ombudsman directed that the Complainants’ investment mortgage interest be calculated in 
accordance with the Bank’s home loan rate and the Bank was to back-date this change to early 2009  
so as to rectify the consequences of the conduct complained of.

Stockbroker’s inappropriate investment merits awards of ¤125,000
The Ombudsman made separate findings against a stock broking firm regarding the sale of high risk 
property investment products to two unrelated Complainants. The investments totalling ¤330,000 
were a disaster and lost their total value.

In one case the investor, who was nearing retirement, was classed as a low risk investor while in 
the other case the investor was classed as a medium risk investor. It was alleged that the firm had a 
conflict of interest as it was also promoting the particular funds. The Ombudsman noted that the 
investors had been sent the brochures and signed the necessary forms before the stockbroker made  
the investments.

While the Ombudsman noted that the investment brochures clearly stated that they were high 
risk investment nevertheless he found it disquieting that such products were offered to both investors 
given their particular risk tolerance classification. In the circumstances he considered that the 
investors themselves had to bear some responsibility but he directed that 30% and 60% of the losses 
incurred, be made good to the medium and low risk investors respectively – in total ¤125,000.

He brought this matter to the attention of the Financial Regulator as he was particularly 
concerned about the Firm’s practices. Similar type products may have been part of other investors’ 
portfolios and the Ombudsman was conscious that in some instances the Firm was operating other 
clients’ accounts in a private discretionary manner. In those circumstances the Firm would not need 
the investors’ instructions before buying or selling investments. Indeed for one of the Complainants 
such an agreement was in place but, interestingly, the Ombudsman noted that the Firm had 
nevertheless sought his permission, even thought it was not necessary, before it made the investment 
as otherwise it would have breached the terms of engagement.
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Move of ¤100,000 pension policy to secure fund not carried out –
¤21,000 award
The Complainant purchased a pension policy with an insurance Company in 1990. The policy 
was placed in a managed fund with the Company. The value of the policy as of March 2007 was 
approximately ¤100,000. By June 2009 it had fallen to just over ¤70,000. The Complainant brought 
her complaint to the Ombudsman as she stated that during a meeting with the Company’s financial 
advisor in March 2007 she specifically requested that the policy be placed in a secure fund where the 
policy’s value was guaranteed. She stated that she requested this as she was nearing retirement age  
and was happy with the value at the time. The Complainant also argued that she contacted the 
Company’s financial advisor several times during the 18 months after March 2007 and at all times 
queried the value of her policy and why it had not been moved to a secure fund. She requested that  
the Ombudsman direct the Company to increase the value of the policy to at least ¤100,000, i.e. its 
value as of March 2007. 

The Company contested the Complainant’s submissions and stated that the financial advisor 
had no record of the Complainant’s request to move the policy to a secure fund. It pointed out that 
any request would have to be made in writing. In investigating the complaint, the Ombudsman 
requested all documentary evidence relating to the Complainant’s policy, telephone call records and 
a signed statement from the financial advisor giving his recollection of meetings / communication 
with the Complainant. The Ombudsman after considering these held a sworn oral hearing as there 
was an issue of fact in dispute between the parties which could not be resolved fairly without hearing 
both sides. The Ombudsman acknowledged that, as the Complainant and financial advisor were 
neighbours, most meetings were carried out in an informal manner, usually at the Complainant’s 
home. He concluded that there was a genuine misunderstanding between the parties involved as to the 
Complainant’s request to move her pension policy into a secure fund. He noted that any such request 
could only have been carried out in writing but he also acknowledged the particular circumstances of 
the case and the informal nature of meetings between the parties from March 2007 onwards. 

The Ombudsman noted that the value of the policy had fallen by approximately ¤30,000.  
Taking into account the circumstances and conflicting submissions, he directed the Company to 
increase the value of the Complainant’s policy by 70% of the amount by which it had fallen.

¤6,500 for incorrect statement to pensioners about immediate access
to investment
In early 2006 a retired couple, in their late 60s, invested ¤15,000 of pension funds in an Insurance 
Company’s long term Commercial Property Fund. In mid January 2009, when they got their 
annual statement, they noticed that it had decreased from ¤18,100 in January 2008 to ¤10,800. The 
Complainants concerned that their original investment of ¤15,000 was falling dramatically, contacted 
the Company to immediately cash it in. However, they were advised by the Company that it had a six 
month encashment and switching restriction clause and therefore, they would be unable to receive their 
funds for a further six months - in fact in February 2008 a restriction for amounts in excess of ¤100,000 
was introduced but by September 2008 this was extended to all amounts. By May 2009 the surrender 
value paid to them was just ¤7,200. They complained that the deferment should not have taken place 
and that the Company return the value of their original investment without further charges.

The Ombudsman found that there was nothing untoward in the decrease in the Company’s 
Commercial Property Fund and that the terms and conditions provided for a deferment period of  
six months. Indeed notice of such a deferment was not required to be given to investors under the 
terms and conditions.
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However, the Ombudsman had serious concerns about how this Fund was marketed. He found 
that during the sales process the Complainants were provided with sales literature which stated that 
they could access their investment at any stage – “The	policy	is	designed	to	invest	your	money	in	funds,	
the	proceeds	of	which	you	can	receive	at	any	stage”. Although it also stated specifically that this brochure 
was to be read in conjunction with the Company’s terms and conditions booklet, the Ombudsman 
found that the statement was totally ambiguous and unacceptable. As it later transpired the 
Complainants could not receive the “proceeds	at	any	stage”. 

Accordingly the Ombudsman found that at a minimum the inclusion of a further note at the 
end of this statement, clearly drawing attention to the specific deferment condition of the terms and 
conditions, would have served an appropriate and important purpose. The deferment restriction was 
a very important caveat even more so given that the Complainants, and any other investor, more than 
likely would have come across this statement first and relied on it to a fair degree when they were 
deciding whether the policy suited their needs. 

As it transpired the incorrect statement meant that the Complainants suffered a further loss of 
¤3,600 within the six month period. The Ombudsman accordingly directed that the Company pay 
the Complainants ¤6,500 for the use of ambiguous language in its literature, the distress caused and 
the manner in which it dealt with the issue overall. He also directed that the literature be revised 
going forward so as to avoid any ambiguity.

Credit Union’s ¤100,000 investment to be refunded
Credit Unions can only invest in certain types of investments including ones that are authorised 
under the Trustee (Authorised Investments) Order 1998 (the Order). A Credit Union in 2005 invested 
¤100,000 in an investment Bond on foot of financial advice provided by an Investment Intermediary. 
The Bond subsequently lost a lot of its value – by July 2009 it was only worth ¤3,000. The Complaint 
was that the Intermediary should not have recommended that the Credit Union purchase the Bond, 
a) because the Bond did not comply with the Order and b) because the Company misrepresented 
the Bond and failed to disclose relevant material information, which showed that the Bond was not 
suitable for a Credit Union.

The Intermediary stated to the Ombudsman that its dealings with the Credit Union were solely 
with the Manager and its then Chairman, it never at any stage met with the Board and as far as it was 
aware there was no Investment Committee in place at the time. It also stated that its arrangement 
with the Credit Union was to make it aware of suitable investment opportunities and it regarded the 
Credit Union as an institutional investor capable of deciding what investments it should invest in.  
The Intermediary was advised by a senior bond trader that the Bond fell within the provisions of  
the Order and that it received written confirmation to that effect from a firm of Stockbrokers.  
The Intermediary also stated that the Bond was a special purpose vehicle issued by a German Bank. 

The Ombudsman noted that in its correspondence both with the Credit Union and his Office, 
the Intermediary based its view that the Bond did comply with the Order on representations made to 
that effect by Stockbrokers. It provided an April 2005 letter to it from the Stockbroker as evidence 
of this which stated inter	alia: “As	an	experienced	fund	manager	(but	obviously	not	a	lawyer),	I	would	
feel	comfortable	that	the	instrument	complies	with	[the	Order]	…” The Ombudsman believed that the 
words “but obviously not a lawyer” undermined the opinion that followed and rendered the advice 
redundant. The Ombudsman also noted that the Financial Regulator had confirmed that the Bond 
issuer was not an authorised credit institution for the purposes of the Order. 

Accordingly the Ombudsman found that the Bond was not an authorised investment and upheld 
the Complaint. Having upheld the first aspect of the complaint it was not necessary to consider the 
second aspect about misrepresentation. He directed the Intermediary to refund ¤100,000 to the 
Credit Union. 
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¤10,000 to Credit Union for loss of ¤28,000 in ¤130,000 life policy
A complaint was made to the Ombudsman that a Financial Adviser should not have recommended 
a ¤130,000 life assurance policy investment to a Credit Union in 2007 as it did not comply with 
the applicable regulatory standards. The Credit Union argued that life policies were removed from 
the permissible investments which Credit Unions could make by the Registrar of Credit Unions 
in October 2006. Following a review in 2008, the Credit Union had to cash in the policy thereby 
incurring a loss of ¤28,000. The Credit Union stated that it relied upon the Financial Adviser to 
ensure that any investment recommended would be suitable and also argued that it was entitled to 
place such reliance by the regulatory standards imposed on investment advisers, in particular the 
Consumer Protection Code. 

The Financial Adviser however stated that he did not initially recommend the investment 
product and that the Credit Union received the application form and other information about the 
product directly from the Underwriter. The Ombudsman noted that in effect what the Financial 
Adviser was arguing was that his input was not advice based in its fullest sense. However, where advice 
on an investment product is not required this is referred to as a “non	advice	based	sale” or “execution	only”. 
This arises where the Adviser is only providing a service of executing an order from the customer  
and where no advice is provided to the customer about the product. In such instances an Execution 
Only document is used by Financial Advisers. This Execution Only document would be signed by  
the Investor to the effect that he or she was going ahead with the transaction on a non-advice 
(execution only) basis. 

However, the Ombudsman found that there was no such document and he stated that it would 
have been prudent for the Financial Adviser to record in writing for the Credit Union what he 
knew relative to the product and the Guidance Note from the Financial Regulator. That said, the 
Ombudsman was satisfied that the Credit Union itself was familiar with the regulations which 
governed it when taking out the investment in question. A positive response from the Credit Union 
was noted to the following question put to it later by the Financial Regulator, “Was	the	board	/	
investment	committee	aware	of	the	Guidance	Note	on	Investments	issued	by	this	office	in	October	2006?”	

Indeed it was clear to the Ombudsman that the Investment Committee of the Credit Union, 
when making its decision to invest in the product, was aware that the investment product was possibly 
outside the Regulator’s guidance. He noted that the Manager of the Credit Union had stated that she 
had voiced her concerns to the Chairperson of the Investment Committee. This sensible advice was 
rejected as she was told that she was not a Financial Adviser and that the Financial Adviser in question 
was employed for giving such advice. In those circumstances the Ombudsman held that there was a 
responsibility on the Credit Union, knowing what it was told by its manager, to have at a minimum 
made further enquires but he found no evidence of this. 

The Ombudsman accordingly found that both parties had responsibilities relative to establishing 
the suitability of the investment product and its conformity with the 2006 Guidance Note on 
Investments. For its lapse in that regard the Financial Adviser was to pay the Credit Union ¤10,000  
in full and final settlement of the dispute.

¤100,000 award for lost Land Certificate
A man, who agreed to sell a parcel of land for ¤225,000, sought the Land Certificate, which was 
in safe keeping, from his Bank. He had purchased another property in anticipation of a successful 
conclusion of this sale. Following ongoing communication between the parties, over a period of two 
months, the Bank acknowledged that it had lost the Land Certificate. Although the Bank then moved 
swiftly to assist the Complainant in procuring a duplicate Certificate, nevertheless three months later, 
the sale of the land fell through. Seven months later, i.e. ten months after the Bank had confirmed the 
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loss of the original Land Certificate, duplicate title deeds became available. The Complainant sought 
compensation for the losses he had incurred on both transactions.

The Bank maintained that the sale could have fallen through for any number of reasons and it 
denied that the reconstitution of title had been responsible for the loss of the sale.

The Ombudsman accepted that the sale might have fallen through for any number of reasons, 
but he noted that the negligence of the Bank had given rise to the need to reconstitute title, with 
the consequent delay in closing the sale. In the Ombudsman’s opinion, the evidence showed that 
the reconstitution of the title had been considered by the purchaser’s solicitors as a significant and 
important factor. The Ombudsman was satisfied that the Bank’s negligence had caused loss to the 
Complainant, insofar as the marketability of the land had been impaired by the loss of the Land 
Certificate. In his opinion the loss which flowed from this negligence, was the profit which the 
Complainant would have earned in respect of the sale of the property. However, the Complainant’s 
decision to purchase property elsewhere, prior to receipt of the proceeds, was a matter entirely for 
the Complainant himself and not a matter for which the Bank could be criticised. He was critical of 
the Bank however as to the manner in which it had dealt with the Complainant’s grievance which had 
been neither timely nor professional and in his opinion had displayed a significant lack of perception.

In all of the circumstances, whilst the Ombudsman took the view that it was not appropriate 
to direct payment to the Complainant of the full amount of the loss of the sale, nevertheless he was 
satisfied that a substantial award of compensation was required for the loss and inconvenience caused. 
He directed an award of ¤100,000 to the Complainant by the Bank.

Overcharging of insurance premiums for non smokers
The Ombudsman investigated complaints against two insurance Companies about increases in 
premiums following policy reviews. While he did not uphold these complaints in the course of his 
investigations he found that the Companies had incorrectly applied “Smoking	Rates’”to the life policies 
where the holders were in fact non smokers. 

In the first instance, he noted that following the review the Company had started to charge the 
Complainant a premium to reflect that of a smoker. The Complainant had never smoked and had 
declared herself as a non-smoker from the outset of the policy. The Ombudsman stated that the 
Company’s ex gratia offer of ¤500 was not enough as the matter would not have been discovered but 
for his investigation. He awarded ¤2,500 in compensation. He increased the amount because of other 
errors made by the Company in the overall policy review exercise. He requested that the Company 
review all similar cases to identify if any other policies were affected. The Company has since then 
identified a possible 200 other cases of overcharging for non smokers and its review is continuing.

Following a subsequent complaint made against another Company, the Ombudsman found that 
the Complainant had been incorrectly charged “Smoking	Rates” on a Life Assurance policy from its 
inception. This error was made even though the Complainant had been declared a non-smoker in the 
application form some twenty years previously. The Ombudsman instructed the Company to refund 
¤1,050 being 20 years of overcharged premiums. A review of all other policies sold by this Company 
has also been requested by the Ombudsman.

Due to the serious matters raised by these two complaints and implications for the industry  
in general the Ombudsman referred the matter to the Financial Regulator to carry out a review 
industry wide.
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¤1,000 and motor premium waived where Company was at fault
in cancelling policy
In January 2007 a grandmother contacted her Insurance Company to add a temporary driver to her 
motor insurance policy prior to the renewal date of her policy. An additional premium was generated 
as a result of this mid-term adjustment to her policy. Subsequently, in March 2007 her policy was up 
for renewal. She contacted the Company in late February 2007 and paid her renewal premium over 
the phone by credit card. On receipt of this payment the Company issued her with a Certificate and 
Disc of insurance. 

It was later noticed by the Company in April 2007 that the Complainant had not paid the 
additional premium that was generated by the earlier addition of a temporary driver. The Company 
took the measure of cancelling her policy back to her renewal date, deducted the amount owed for 
the temporary driver, and refunded the remainder of her renewal premium back onto her credit card. 
At no time did the Company advise her that it was cancelling her policy or refunding the remainder 
of her renewal premium back onto her credit card. The Company did not request a return of the 
Certificate and Disc of insurance which would be considered standard industry practice when a motor 
insurance policy is cancelled. In March 2008 she contacted the Company as she had not received her 
renewal notice for the forthcoming year. It was only then that she was advised by the Company that 
her motor insurance policy had been cancelled in March 2007 due to a shortfall in the premium owed. 

As she got no satisfaction for concerns she raised with the Company she complained to the 
Ombudsman in March 2009 as she was appalled that she had been driving without insurance, 
including collecting her grandchildren from school, for a period of 12 months without notification 
from the Company. 

The Ombudsman was shocked at what happened and he noted that, fortunately, she was not 
involved in an accident or stopped by the Gardaí during this period. He directed the Company to 
provide cover for the period in question with the premium amount waived. He also felt it appropriate 
to award her ¤1,000 for the stress and inconvenience caused by the Company’s failure to notify 
her that her policy had been cancelled. While the Ombudsman accepts that this was an isolated 
case nevertheless the non notification would have had horrendous consequences if an accident had 
occurred. All Companies should therefore ensure that cancellations are given proper attention. 

Complainant’s insurance loss assessor caused unreasonable delay
A claim, made under a Buildings Insurance Policy in respect of damage resulting from a chimney 
fire in late 2007, was not fully paid by an Insurance Company by December 2008. A complaint was 
then made to the Ombudsman that the Company had not dealt with the claim in a fair manner. 
The Complainant had hired her own Public Loss Assessor to deal with the claim. The claim process 
proved to be protracted in that the Company’s Loss Adjuster and the Complainant’s Loss Assessor 
could not come to a mutual agreement on the settlement of the claim. The Loss Assessor felt that the 
settlement amount offered was not high enough to cover all aspects of the repairs to the chimney.  
He also felt that he should be allowed supervise the repairs and that a fee should be paid to him in that 
respect. There was also disagreement about the Company holding back a portion of the settlement 
figure until such time as the work was completed. All this contributed to a delay in getting the 
chimney repaired and it appeared that she was not being kept fully informed of developments. 

The Ombudsman noted that the original claim received in January 2008 was for ¤10,800, the 
Company in late January 2008 offered an amount of ¤7,200 and following further contact from the 
Assessor a final offer of ¤7,700 was made by the Company in late March 2008. The Company also 
paid an advance of ¤5,200 then but the Assessor was still not happy. 
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The Ombudsman was conscious that, while the protracted dispute had been going on for 
nearly two years solely between the Company and her Loss Assessor, the damaged chimney had not 
been repaired. The Ombudsman found it regrettable that both did not have greater regard for the 
Complainant’s position. He was however satisfied that the Company’s attempts at settlement of the 
claim were fair and reasonable as the Company increased its settlement offer and made an interim 
payment despite the policy specifically stating that: “no	payment	shall	be	made	until	reinstatement	
has	taken	place”. The Ombudsman noted that the Company did this solely to allow an early 
commencement of the repairs but this did not happen. 

While the Ombudsman could not uphold the complaint he did direct the Company in  
September 2009 to reduce the retention amount of ¤2,500 by ¤1,500, thereby increasing the amount 
available to the Complainant to effect repairs. He did this solely to get repairs underway as quickly 
as possible as he felt this matter should have been resolved long ago with reasonable good will on both 
sides. He was not impressed at all with the actions of the Loss Assessor.

50% award for stolen car valued at ¤20,000
The Complainant’s home was broken into in December 2008 and her car keys were stolen. 
Subsequently in March 2009 the car itself was stolen and later found burnt out. She submitted a  
claim in respect of the loss of the car to her Insurance Company but it declined the claim as a 
condition in the policy provided “The	policyholder	shall	take	all	reasonable	steps	to	safeguard	the	Insured/
vehicle	from	loss	or	damage	and	maintain	it	in	efficient	and	roadworthy	condition”. She disputed the 
repudiation of the claim for ¤20,000 and made a formal complaint to the Ombudsman. 

In considering this matter the Ombudsman noted a Court judgment which indicated that for  
a condition of “reasonable	precaution” not being complied it must be established that the Complainant 
was “reckless”. While the policy required the insured to take “all reasonable precautions” he noted that 
she kept the car in a locked car park and had a steering lock fitted – a Garda report confirmed these 
precautions had been taken. The Ombudsman recognised that while it may have been prudent of her 
to have had the locks of the car changed after the keys were stolen in December 2008 he did not find 
her to have acted “recklessly” in not doing so. He felt she had taken reasonable measures to avoid the 
risk and may not have appreciated these were inadequate. In all the circumstances and having regard 
to what was fair and reasonable he considered that 50% (¤10,000) of the claim should be met. 

Credit Union was wrong to release ¤5,400 from a minor’s account
A complaint was made against a Credit Union in relation to the account of a minor, which had been 
opened by his mother, and in respect of which his mother said that she was the only signatory, and 
had also been the only contributor. The complaint arose in circumstances where the minor’s father 
had been permitted by the Credit Union to withdraw almost all of the monies held in the account 
circa ¤5,400. The Credit Union relied on Rule 17 of the Standard Rules for Credit Unions in having 
permitted the minor’s father to make a withdrawal on the account. It also advised that the minor’s 
father was well known to the Credit Union personnel and, consequently, no issue arose in relation to 
proof of identification, prior to permitting the transaction.

The Ombudsman noted that usually the person who opened an account is the person entitled to 
make a withdrawal from it. The account opening instructions or similar document usually identifies 
the party entitled to make the withdrawal. As none of the documents sought from the Credit Union 
had been provided however, these details could not be conclusively established in this case. The 
Ombudsman however took the view that the Credit Union had, by implication, accepted the fact that 
the Complainant’s mother had opened the account and it seemed that the Complainant’s father had 
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not been expressly identified as a person entitled to make a withdrawal from the account.
The Ombudsman also noted that Rule 17 expressly stated that the signature of the parent or 

guardian will be deemed sufficient “at	the	discretion	of	the	Board	of	Directors”. There was no evidence 
in this instance however that the Board had ever considered the matter and, consequently, it seemed 
that the Board had not exercised its discretion at all, one way or the other. The Ombudsman took the 
view that the failure to exercise its discretion was such that the provisions of Rule 17 were not satisfied 
and consequently, could not be relied upon by the Credit Union to justify the decision to sanction 
the withdrawal. The Ombudsman directed an immediate refund by the Credit Union of the amount 
withdrawn to the account of the minor.

Hire Purchase Company’s ten day clearance period inequitable
The Complainants were charged numerous “penalty	interest	fees” of varying small amounts on their 
finance agreements with Hire Purchase Company. The Company allocated ten working days for 
credit transfers, the method used by the Complainants in paying the finance agreements. The 
Ombudsman found that this method of applying penalty interest fees for late payment, due to 
allocating ten working days for credit transfer clearance, was inequitable and needed to be revised. 

The Ombudsman accordingly directed the Company to cease this practice forthwith and use 
the standard financial industry norm of four to five working days for credit transfer clearance. The 
Ombudsman also directed the Company to pay the Complainants a ¤600 customer service award. 

Change in maternity benefit cover was not an upgrade –
Stg£2,000 award
A lady complained in relation to her health insurance policy, as a result of the renewal conditions 
imposed by the Company after the first 12 months of cover. Prior to renewal the Complainant had 
benefited from unlimited cover in relation to Routine Maternity, Complications of Childbirth 
and Complications of Pregnancy (subject of course to a 10 month waiting period). Following her 
renewal of the policy although she continued to benefit from unlimited cover from Complications 
of Pregnancy, monetary limits were imposed on the cover for Routine Maternity and Complications 
of Childbirth. The Complainant was unhappy as she had been advised by the Company that if she 
wished to increase the monetary limits of the cover for Routine Maternity and Complications of 
Childbirth she would be subject to a new 10 month waiting period. The Complainant felt that the 
Company was “moving	the	goalposts”.

The Company pointed out that the renewal of an annual insurance policy constituted a new 
contract with the policyholder and that the insurer was entitled to re-assess the risk involved and 
also the terms of the contract upon renewal. The Company explained that the Complainant’s policy 
had been altered upon renewal and that at that point, the Complainant’s level of benefits for Routine 
Maternity and Complications of Childbirth were subject to certain specified limits. It was open to the 
Complainant however to seek to upgrade her policy, subject to Underwriting and, in that event, the 
Complainant could benefit from higher monetary limits for the benefits in question. The Company 
pointed out however that it is standard industry practice that once the risk is heightened by virtue of 
an increased benefit being chosen, an appropriate waiting period would be applied, in this instance a 
period of 10 months.

The Ombudsman noted that the Company’s Policyholders were on notice from the Benefit 
Guide that “a	waiting	period	also	applies	to	any	extended	cover”. He also noted that Insurance Companies 
are entitled to re-assess the risk involved and to alter the terms of the contract upon renewal and the 
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Policy Document in this instance contained a clear condition allowing the insurer to re-assess cover 
and make changes affecting premium, terms of payment and indeed the cover itself, upon renewal. 
The Ombudsman found that the Company was entitled to change the terms of the policy at renewal, 
in a manner which would reduce the level of benefits available to the Complainant. Nevertheless he 
also found that when the Complainant sought to change her level of cover from the lower monetary 
limits imposed by the Company upon renewal, to the higher monetary limits offered by an alternative 
plan, such a change in benefit levels could not reasonably be considered to represent an “upgrade” in 
cover because of the previous unlimited cover she had.

In circumstances where the Complainant had previously undergone the 10 month waiting period 
for an unlimited level of benefits, the Ombudsman was firmly of the opinion that the Company was 
not entitled to require the Complainant to be subject again to a further 10 month waiting period for 
what was, in effect, a reduction in the limit of the benefits, rather than an upgrade. The Ombudsman 
accordingly directed that, at the Complainant’s election, the Company retrospectively change the 
Complainant’s cover to the alternative plan available, subject of course to the payment of the higher 
premium amount, without the imposition of a 10 month waiting period for the Routine Maternity 
benefits or the Complications of Childbirth benefits. The Ombudsman also directed a compensatory 
payment to the Complainant in the sum of Stg£2,000.

¤2,000 for sale of mortgage protector policy which did not apply
after age 65
A complaint against a Bank and an Insurance company related to a Mortgage and a Mortgage 
Repayment Protector Policy taken out in 2002. The first complaint was that the Complainant 
believed the mortgage which was to run until his 75th birthday was inappropriate and should not 
have been sold to him. The second complaint was that when a sickness claim was made under the 
repayment protector policy the Complainant was found not to qualify as cover had expired on  
his 65th birthday. 

On the first ground of complaint, the Ombudsman noted that the Bank’s policy was to ensure 
that where a borrower would exceed the age of 65 years prior to the natural expiry date of the loan  
he/she was required to have sustainable income to maintain payments of the mortgage, thereafter.  
The Complainant was self employed at the time of the mortgage application and his personal debt 
was paid through the company accounts. Based on this, and the strength of the accounts, the Bank 
decided that the customer’s request was reasonable and the loan proceeded to age 75. Accordingly 
the Ombudsman found that a) the Complainant must take responsibility for the fact that he sought 
the loan facilities from the Bank, and was satisfied to accept the offer of a 15 year payment term in 
the knowledge of his age and b) the Complainant met the Bank’s criteria relating to underwriting 
requirements for mortgages belonging to borrowers over the age of 65. 

With regard to the second ground of complaint the Ombudsman found that the policy 
provisions were clear as to when cover ceased i.e. on the policyholder’s 65th birthday. Therefore, the 
Complainant did not meet the policy criteria for cover at the time of his claim or subsequently. The 
Ombudsman also discovered that a system for notifying the policyholder of the ending of cover when 
he reached 65 years of age did not operate. He stated that it was not good enough that both the Bank 
and the Insurance Company each blamed the other as to who should have notified the Complainant of 
the cessation of cover at age 65 . He found that both the Bank and the Company had the information 
available to be aware of this fact, i.e. the Application Form clearly set out the Complainant’s birth 
date and indeed the Repayment Protection Cover was not obligatory. Having regarded all of the 
circumstances of the case the Ombudsman directed that compensatory awards of ¤1,000 were to be 
paid by both the Bank and the Company. 
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Non payment of ¤625,000 life assurance death benefit by company
was correct
A complaint relating to the non payment of a death benefit claim under a Life Assurance Policy where 
the sum assured was ¤625,000 was received by the Ombudsman. In 2003 the life policy of an assured 
person had lapsed due to the non-payment of premiums by him. The Company agreed to reinstate the 
policy later that year, but subject to the completion of a Declaration of Health by him. The Company 
set out a number of questions on the Declaration of Health Form relative to his health over the period 
since the original cover was put in place. On this Form the Company also warned of the need to make 
a full disclosure of all material facts. In 2008 he sadly died. His widow duly made a claim for the death 
benefit under the policy. The Company turned down the claim on the ground of non-disclosure by 
her deceased husband of material facts relative to his health history. It was the Company’s case that 
had it been made aware in 2003 of his health history it would not have reinstated the policy then. 

The issue for adjudication by the Ombudsman was whether there had been a full disclosure by 
the deceased policyholder of all material facts on the Declaration of Health Form and whether the 
Company acted in a reasonable manner.

The principal characteristic of an insurance contract is that it is a contract of utmost good faith; 
both the insurance company and the person looking for insurance must exercise utmost good faith 
in their dealings with each other. If the person looking for insurance fails to disclose circumstances 
which would influence the decision of the insurance company in fixing the premium or in determining 
whether or not to accept the risk, the insurance company may be entitled to decline liability under  
the policy. 

On an examination of the medical evidence and the answers to the questions set out by the 
Company on the Declaration of Health Form, the Ombudsman noted that the deceased had not 
disclosed attendances with his GP and a number of Medical Consultants in respect of medical 
complaints in the years preceding the signing of the Form. In particular, the Ombudsman noted the 
non-disclosure of an attendance by him with a Consultant Physician in relation to a serious health 
problem just two weeks prior to the completion of the Form. The Ombudsman found that the 
consequence of not detailing all material facts was clearly set out both in the Policy documentation and 
the Declaration of Health Form signed by the deceased, i.e. “ failure	to	do	so	may	invalidate	a	future	claim”. 

While mindful of the sad circumstances leading to the claim, the Ombudsman found that on the 
evidence submitted the Company was entitled to repudiate the claim on the basis that all material 
facts were not disclosed.

¤1m investment complaint not upheld
A couple in their early seventies made two investments in 2006, each in the sum of ¤500,000, in 
medium risk and high risk investment products respectively. They complained to the Ombudsman 
that they had been assured by an Insurance Company at the time of the inception of the investment 
policies, that their first investment would have the benefit of a capital guarantee and that their second 
investment was a low risk proposition. It was noted in the autumn 2009 that the value of the policies 
had fallen, and together totalled less than ¤600,000. This represented an enormous loss to the 
Complainants, who sought to recover those losses from the Company. The Ombudsman considered 
not alone the contents of the documentation which the Complainants had signed in 2006, at the time 
of placing the investments, but other issues such as that they did not need access to the funds for at 
least five years and that they were prepared to take some risk with capital.

He was satisfied with respect to the first investment, that it must have been clear to the 
Complainants at the time of investing their monies, that the investment policy offered no capital 
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guarantee. He was also of the opinion that there was no evidence to support the Complainants’ 
contention that they were investing in a guaranteed product. With respect to the second investment 
made in late 2006, he took the view that the evidence did not support the Complainants’ suggestion 
that they had been led to believe by the Company that their second investment was a low risk venture.

The Ombudsman also noted that, after making these investments of ¤1m in 2006, the 
Complainants had very substantial funds of almost ¤900,000 still remaining on deposit, and available 
to them in the event of any emergency needs. 

He accordingly found on the evidence presented in relation to the parties’ dealings in 2006, that 
the complaint against the Company could not be upheld.

¤4,000 award against Insurance Company for poor treatment of
unemployed man
A man who held borrowings from a bank became unemployed and claimed on a loan protection policy. 
The claim was admitted, but the Insurance Company required the man to submit a form every month, 
signed by his Social Welfare office, confirming his continuing unemployment. The individual brought 
the complaint owing to the difficulties he faced every month in having the form signed, because the 
form in question contained no explanation of why it was required, and failed to include any option for 
the certification of his receipt of Job Seeker’s Allowance, as distinct from Unemployment Benefit. 

He was also annoyed that on a number of occasions he had been penalised financially, because 
the form could only be signed by the Social Welfare office on 27th of each month, and the insurer 
was unable to receive and process the form in order to issue the benefit payment, in sufficient time to 
meet the liability to the man’s Bank on 28th of every month. His credit rating was being affected as a 
result. The Company had failed to offer the Complainant any assistance in relation to this aspect of 
his concerns.

The Ombudsman noted that the Insurance Company had failed to respond to the Complainant 
on numerous occasions when he had sought to bring his concerns to its attention. Moreover, it had also 
failed to engage with the Ombudsman’s office in respect of the investigation of the matter, and had 
failed to respond to the queries raised, or to furnish the documentary evidence sought. Because of this 
the Ombudsman decided to determine the case, after warning the Company on two occasions, on the 
basis of documentation submitted by the Complainant including correspondence from the Company 
to the Bank. 

The Ombudsman agreed with the Complainant that the monthly form was not adequate for  
the purpose required, and he noted that the form did not as much as bear the Insurance Company’s 
name upon it. He rejected the Company’s position that the form “works	well	in	most	claim	scenarios”. 
On the evidence available, he also accepted the Complainant’s case that he had, through no fault of 
his own, repeatedly incurred penalties, arising from the late payment of the monetary benefit by the 
Insurance Company.

The Ombudsman directed the company to pay ¤4,000 to the Complainant by way of 
compensation for the wholly inadequate and unprofessional level of service provided to him and the 
degree of inconvenience caused. He also brought the matter to the Financial Regulator’s attention.

¤22,000 travel insurance cancellation claim upheld
A person who in May 2008 booked a two week foreign family holiday for January 2009 paid the 
balance in November 2008. Before booking the holiday he made inquiries with his legal team as to 
when a Supreme Court hearing involving him was likely to take place and he was informed that it was 
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unlikely to arise till after February 2009. He cancelled the holiday because in mid December 2008 
he got notice that the court case was set to be heard in January just a few hours after his scheduled 
return from abroad. He submitted a holiday cancellation claim under his travel insurance policy 
which the Insurance Company repudiated on the grounds that the court case was not due to occur 
during the scheduled trip dates, but after his return. The Complainant argued that he could not 
realistically arrive back from holiday just hours before the court case and he also needed to consult 
with his legal team. The Company had offered to meet only ¤11,000 of the ¤22,000 loss he suffered 
on cancellation. 

The Ombudsman felt that he likewise would not have gone on holidays, nor he suggested would 
any sensible person in a similar position, because of the risk of a delay occurring preventing a return to 
attend court. The Ombudsman also recognised the need for a person to be present in the country well 
before the appointed court date to prepare for the case with his legal team, as is generally the norm. 
He also noted that when booking his holiday the Complainant would not have been aware of the likely 
date of the court hearing but he had taken the reasonable precaution to check this with his solicitor 
prior to booking the holiday. 

With regard to the policy wording the Ombudsman noted that it covered a situation where during 
the period of insurance a policyholder was forced to cancel a holiday as a direct and necessary result of 
being called as a witness in a court of law. He found that despite what the Company’s claim handlers 
had argued, the policy did not specifically state that the attendance as a witness in a court of law had 
to happen during the scheduled trip dates.

The Ombudsman found that the Complainant’s compulsion to cancel his holiday was in reality 
a direct and necessary result of being required to be present in Ireland for the court case. He 
accordingly directed the Company to refund the full cost of cancellation of ¤22,000 under the policy.






